IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

Alexandria Division

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA)	
v.)	The Honorable Liam O'Grady
KIM DOTCOM, et al.,)	Criminal No. 1:12-CR-3
Defendants)	

REBUTTAL MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF MOTION OF QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART & SULLIVAN LLP AND THE ROTHKEN LAW FIRM FOR LEAVE TO ENTER LIMITED AND SPECIAL APPEARANCE ON BEHALF OF MEGAUPLOAD LIMITED

Nearly ten months have elapsed since Defendant Megaupload Limited ("Megaupload") was branded a criminal, yet it has had no opportunity to date to clear its name or to challenge the charges against it. Ten months have elapsed since every penny of the company's assets was frozen, yet there has been no pre or post-seizure hearing for Megaupload to contest the propriety of that action. During these past ten months, Megaupload—once estimated to be the 13th most frequently visited website on the entire Internet (*See* Dkt. 34 at ¶ 3)—has been wiped out for all intents and purposes. All this time, the Government has not complied with Rule 4, has not attempted to comply with Rule 4, and has not identified any prospect that it might comply with Rule 4 any time in the foreseeable future. Moreover, Megaupload's servers—which house the universe of relevant evidence against which the Government's allegations against Megaupload might potentially be fully and fairly assessed one day—have been taken offline for lack of funding (while the Government sits on all the assets it has seized from Megaupload) and have spent much of this year on the floor of a warehouse. And Megaupload's innocent consumers have now gone nearly ten months without any access to their property.

The ability of a criminal defendant to mount, not only in theory but also in practice, a fair defense should be beyond question. Sadly, the Government's conduct of this case is to the contrary, raising grave questions about whether the Government is out to play judge, jury, executioner, and asset collector without benefit of the adversarial process and protections, including those of Rule 4, to which this corporation is entitled. Certainly the prosecution to date—by freezing assets, by foreswearing proper service, and by steadfastly refusing to lift a finger or spend a cent to prevent ongoing spoliation of server evidence (not to mention deprivation of innocent users' rightful property)—has denied Megaupload any semblance of due process.

With their present motion, Movants Quinn Emanuel Urquhart & Sullivan LLP and the Rothken Law Firm seek leave to enter limited and special appearances on behalf of Megaupload, so that the corporation may renew its request that the Court dismiss the Indictment—at least temporarily, until such as time as Megaupload may receive service and mailing in compliance with Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 4—and thereby escape the criminal limbo that is presently subjecting Megaupload to daily, irreparable harm.¹

¹ The Government asks the Court to decide Movants' motion for leave on the papers and without an oral hearing, pursuant to Local Criminal Rule 47(J). (Dkt. 132 at 2-3.) Given that the Government's Opposition directly addresses the merits of Megaupload's underlying renewed request for dismissal without prejudice, and in light of the extensive briefing and oral arguments that have already been presented to the Court in connection with this and previous motions, Megaupload respectfully submits that the Court may decide both the motion for leave and the renewed request for dismissal without further briefs or argument. Megaupload asks the Court to dismiss the case, without prejudice, forthwith.

In the event that the Court grants the motion for leave and decides that further briefing is necessary, the Government requests at least fifteen <u>business</u> days for leave to file a full response to the underlying motion, "due to other commitments amongst the prosecution team (including other significant briefings in this matter)." (Dkt. 132 at 3.) Megaupload objects to this request. Given the ongoing harm to Megaupload, and given the vast resources of the United States Government—including five separate attorneys who have entered appearances in this case on

ARGUMENT

This Court has recognized that "[t]he government has not served, nor has it attempted to serve, the corporate Defendant." (Dkt. 127 at 2 n.3.) The Court, however, denied without prejudice Defendant Megaupload's motion to dismiss the Superseding Indictment for lack of jurisdiction, reasoning that "the government may be able to prove that at least one of the individually named defendants is an alter ego of the corporate parent" and that, if it does, the government will be able to serve Megaupload once that individual is extradited to the United States. (Id. at 4-5.) In doing so, however, the Court expressly acknowledged "that the individual Defendants may never be extradited," and that the Government may therefore never be able to attempt service on the individual Defendants as Megaupload's possible alter egos. (*Id.* at 5 n.6.) Moreover, even if Kim Dotcom or the other individual Defendants are ultimately extradited to the United States, there is at best a theoretical possibility that the Government might establish an alter-ego relationship. (Id. at 4 ("In this case, the Government may be able to prove that at least one of the individually named defendants is an alter ego of the corporate parent.") (emphasis added).) Megaupload thus faces an undefined and potentially indefinite period of abeyance, during which its assets will remain restrained and its reputation tarnished, with no means of being served in accordance with Rule 4 or vindicating its rights.

The Court's Order on Megaupload's motion to dismiss leaves open the questions whether Megaupload has been and will continue to be denied due process by the Government's delay in attempting service of process, and whether the Superseding Indictment should therefore be dismissed until such time as the individual Defendants are extradited (if ever) and the alter ego analysis can be conducted (if ever urged). (See Dkt. 127 at 2 n.3.) The Court declined to

behalf of the United States—the Government should have no issue filing its response within the time provided by this Court's Local Rules.

consider dismissal without prejudice pending potential extradition of the individual Defendants, unless and until Megaupload requested such relief. (*See id.*)

As noted in Megaupload's proposed filing (*see* Dkt. 128-3 at 2-3), Megaupload has in fact already requested this very relief at oral argument on the motion to dismiss. During that hearing, counsel for Megaupload expressly requested that, if the Court was not inclined to dismiss the Indictment with prejudice, it do so without prejudice, until such time as the Government may be able to serve the corporate Defendant in accordance with the requirements of Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 4 and 9:

THE COURT: Well, that—can I require them to serve the company on any particular date? There's no date in the rule -- there appears to be no statutory limitation, and I understand your due process argument. So I—what if I, you know, would start with a premise that I don't control when the Government decides to serve the company. Where do we go from there?

MR. BURCK: Well, Your Honor, we would submit that if the Court were ruling—going in that direction as a reasoning matter, that the appropriate result would be to dismiss the indictment without prejudice.

Because the company, again, has already suffered all the consequences of a criminal prosecution, so the—even if there's a trial and the company is acquitted and the individuals are acquitted, of course the company is still done.

So, we think that the due process claims trump all the other issues, and we think that if the Court were so inclined, that the Government should take certain steps in order to effectuate service, then—or if the extradition proceedings would be the relevant time line for that, again, the company should have an opportunity during that period of time to try to rehabilitate itself, because there isn't currently a criminal case that is sufficient for purposes of service and they've suffered massive harm.

So, of course, that would not be our preference, and we do think that the Supreme Court has said you can't change the rules of service, et cetera, but the—that's all in our brief—but we do think that the alternative would be dismissal without prejudice, allow the Government at the appropriate time to then supercede the indictment again, add the corporation into the indictment.

And at that point, a year down the road, two years, however long it takes and wherever the MLAT process or the extradition process takes, at that point we could have this argument as to specific individuals, corporations, entities.

But, in the meantime, having the company subject to the burden of a—the incredible burden of a criminal prosecution with no ability to defend itself and no service is an extraordinary result and one that is unprecedented.

(July 27, 2012 Hrg. Tr. at 40:17-42:14.) This colloquy demonstrates that Megaupload expressly sought dismissal at least until Megaupload can be properly served, and that the question whether the case should be dismissed without prejudice pending extradition of the individual Defendants has been and remains properly before the Court.

Notably, the Government does not dispute that such request was properly posed at, and has remained pending since, the July hearing. (*See* Dkt. 132.) Instead, the Government argues that this Court lacks authority to dismiss a criminal indictment to protect a corporate defendant's due process rights. It also argues that, in any event, Megaupload will suffer no harm from a prolonged delay—even an indefinite one—in the commencement of proceedings against it, or, alternatively, that any harm Megaupload may suffer is self-inflicted. Each of these arguments is without merit and simply confirms, yet again, the lengths the Government will go to deny Megaupload due process.

I. THIS COURT HAS THE INHERENT POWER TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT TO PROTECT THE CORPORATE DEFENDANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS

Megaupload's request for dismissal rests on two basic legal tenets: (1) a corporate defendant such as Megaupload is entitled to due process of law; and (2) courts have the inherent authority to protect those due process rights, including by dismissing a criminal indictment. (*See* Dkt. 128-3 at 3.) In its Opposition, the Government takes on both of these tenets. (Dkt. 132 at 3-4.) Beyond describing Megaupload's cited precedents as "out-of-context sound bites," however, the Government offers no positive authority of its own to suggest that Megaupload is

wrong on the law. Thus, for example, the Government does not cite a single case holding that corporate defendants lack the constitutional protections of due process—nor could it. More than a century of precedent firmly establishes that corporations are legal persons, entitled to due process. See, e.g., Helicopteros Nacionales de Colombia, S.A. v. Hall, 466 U.S. 408, 418-19 (1984) (holding that nonresident corporate defendant's due process rights were violated by court's exercise of in personam jurisdiction, where corporation did not have sufficient contacts with the forum state); International Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316 (1945) (assertion of jurisdiction over out-of-state corporation must comply with "traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice"); Chicago, Milwaukee, & St. Paul. R.R. Co. v. Wisconsin, 238 U.S. 491, 501-02 (1915) (holding that a state statute regulating the railroad's sleeping cars is invalid and cannot be sustained as a valid exercise of the state's reserved power to alter a corporate charter when the statute deprives the corporation of its property without due process of law); Noble v. Union River Logging R. R. Co., 147 U.S. 165, 176 (1893) (holding that an order revoking approval of the railroad company's maps for right of way over public lands was "an attempt to deprive the [railroad] of its property without due process of law"). Considering there is no doubt that Megaupload would have a constitutional right to speak up in publicly criticizing the ongoing prosecution of it, it seems beyond strange for the Government now to question whether Megaupload is entitled to speak up, vindicate itself, and obtain redress before the United States District Court that is presiding over its prosecution. Cf. Citizens United v. Federal Election Comm'n, 558 U.S. 310, 130 S.Ct. 876, 900 (2010) ("[P]olitical speech does not lose First Amendment protection 'simply because its source is a corporation.'") (internal citation omitted).

The Government likewise offers nothing to support its contention that this Court stands powerless to defend Megaupload from the Government's unwarranted delay in commencing

criminal proceedings against it. Again, the legal authorities directly contradict the Government's position. Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 48(b)(3) expressly provides that a "court may dismiss an indictment, information, or complaint if unnecessary delay occurs in . . . bringing a defendant to trial." The Advisory Committee Notes to Rule 48 make clear that, "[t]his rule is a restatement of the inherent power of the court to dismiss a case for want of prosecution." Courts have applied this rule to dismiss indictments where—as here—the prosecution's delay threatens to prejudice the criminal defendant. See United States v. Rowbotham, 430 F. Supp. 1254, 1257 (D. Mass. 1977) (dismissing a criminal indictment where eight months had passed since defendant's indictment without the Government attempting to seek the defendant's extradition or to bring him before a judicial officer); United States v. Zabady, 546 F. Supp. 35, 39-40 (M.D. Penn. 1982) (delay of four months since date of defendants' indictment, together with prospective delay of at least another year, required dismissal of indictment without prejudice; court would not sanction open-ended indictment process whereby Government would have unlimited time to arrange its case and defendants would suffer severe personal prejudice from protracted delay). To the extent precedent on these points is relatively scarce, it is because such overreaching by the United States Government in its criminal prosecutions appears to be relatively rare. But it bears emphasizing that the Government cites no precedent to support its position that this Court lacks power to dismiss. There should be no doubt, therefore, that this Court may dismiss the case against the corporate defendant, whether with or without prejudice, as and if appropriate to protect Megaupload's right to due process and prevent undue prejudice.

II. MEGAUPLOAD WILL SUFFER SUBSTANTIAL PREJUDICE ABSENT DISMISSAL

The central question is whether this Court should now exercise that power. The Government contends that, even if the Court has the ability to dismiss the Superseding

Indictment against Megaupload, it should decline to do so because Megaupload will suffer no harm as a result of "delay in formal service of a piece of paper," particularly because "Megaupload Limited is on notice of its indictment on criminal charges in the Eastern District of Virginia." (See Dkt. 132 at 2, 7.) Resistance to perceived "technicalities" might be expected in some cases. But it comes with poor grace from the Government in this case, considering that it has stood on self-serving technicalities at every turn—e.g., in trying to prevent the undersigned counsel from even being heard, in freezing Megaupload's assets that could otherwise fund proper defense and preservation of evidence, and in denying innocent users any practical means of recovering their property. Only upon encountering a hard-and-fast requirement of service that it cannot meet does the Government suddenly perceive room to bend the rules.

In any event, contrary to the Government's view of the matter, the Supreme Court has made clear that service of process² is "fundamental to any procedural imposition on a named defendant" and a prerequisite to the exercise of judicial power over a defendant—regardless of whether the defendant has actual notice of the indictment. *Murphy Bros., Inc. v. Michetti Pipe Stringing, Inc.*, 526 U.S. 344, 350 (1999) ("In the absence of service of process (or waiver of service by the defendant), a court ordinarily may not exercise power over a party the complaint names as defendant."); *Omni Capital Int'l, Ltd. v. Rudolf Wolff & Co.*, 484 U.S. 97, 104 (1987) ([B]efore a court may exercise personal jurisdiction over a defendant, *there must be more than notice to the defendant* and a constitutionally sufficient relationship between the defendant and the forum. *There also must be a basis for the defendant's amenability to service of summons*.

Although this Court in passing suggested the prospect that Rule 4's mailing requirement, while mandatory, might be differentiated from its overall service requirement, it reserved any judgment about the matter. (Dkt. 127 at 1 n.1.) Notably, we know of no precedent for differentiating the import of Rule 4's mailing requirement from its delivery requirement, and the Supreme Court's insistence on strictures of formal service, quite apart from actual notice, seems inhospitable to any such distinction.

Absent consent, this means there must be authorization for service of summons on the defendant.) (emphasis added); *see also Harding v. Williams Prop. Co.*, No. 96–2713, 1998 WL 637414, at *4 (4th Cir. Aug. 31, 1998) (Table) (rejecting plaintiff's argument that actual notice suffices absent proper service, because a summons entails "much more than a mere notice."). Indeed, discounting the necessity or import of Rule 4's requirements seems unfair to the plain terms of Rule 4, which, fairly read, reflect a legislative judgment that criminal prosecutions should not reach beyond the enumerated, bounded scope of service.

The Government's narrow conception of service also ignores the indisputable harm that Megaupload, who is presumed innocent of the charges, has already suffered and will continue to suffer as a result of the Government's failure to mail a summons and thereby commence criminal proceedings. It has been nearly ten months since the company was indicted, had its website seized, had its business destroyed, had all of its assets frozen, and been relegated to an indefinite, ongoing state of criminal limbo. Throughout that time, Megaupload has been deprived of any opportunity to rehabilitate its business.³ It has been denied access to its funds for purposes of

The Government appears to attempt to intimidate Megaupload and the individual defendants, pointing to testimony given by Defendant Kim Dotcom in connection with his bail hearings in New Zealand, and suggesting that any effort by Megaupload to rehabilitate its business may result in additional criminal charges. (Dkt. 132 at 9-10.) As an initial matter, while the Government may wish to treat Mr. Dotcom as an alter ego of the corporate defendant, to date it has made no such showing and this Court has made no such finding. As such, Megaupload is presumed to be a separate, independently charged defendant who, more importantly, is presumed to be innocent. Mr. Dotcom's testimony in New Zealand is therefore irrelevant to the present motion. Moreover, neither Mr. Dotcom's bail conditions nor U.S. law precludes Megaupload from engaging in a lawful business—including one that involves the Internet and technology.

Moreover, any "rehabilitation" of the legacy Megaupload cloud storage site for purposes of consumer access will occur, if at all, under the meet and confer mechanism ordered by the Court on April 18, 2012 (*see* Dkt. 87) involving Judge Anderson and/or by approval of this Court, as well as New Zealand authorities to the extent bail conditions are implicated, which would make any such rehabilitation lawful on its face.

mounting its defense in this case. Megaupload's servers—which house potentially exculpatory evidence, critical to Megaupload's defense—have been taken offline due to non-payment of fees and now face grave danger of data loss. Further, Megaupload's innocent customers have been prevented from retrieving their property. (*See* Dkt. 90.) It should be beyond dispute, therefore, that the Government's failure to comply with Rule 4 is subjecting Megaupload to ongoing, irreparable harm indistinguishable from the sort that would attend ultimate criminal conviction following full criminal process.

The Government scores no points by contending that Megaupload's motion for stay in the separately filed civil case somehow diminishes the harm that Megaupload is suffering from the Government's failure to commence criminal proceedings. (See Dkt. 132 at 8.) The potential prejudice that the civil plaintiffs may suffer due to the delay in litigating their claims for monetary damages does not compare, in quality or in degree, to the ongoing harm that Megaupload suffers from being branded a criminal, seeing its business destroyed, and being left destitute, with all of its assets criminally seized. Indeed, the Government's restraint of assets that might otherwise be used to fund a legal defense—the very harm that Megaupload presently seeks to remedy—was a key factor offered by Megaupload in support of the civil stay. See Microhits, Inc. et al. v. Megaupload, Ltd., et al., Case No. 1:12-cv-327 (E.D.Va. May 10, 2012) (Docket #17) at 2 ("Moreover, although Defendants are presumed innocent in the Criminal Action, their assets have been frozen, and they cannot afford to pay counsel and e-discovery vendors to defend this complex matter."). Far from being inconsistent, Megaupload's position in the civil case and its instant request for relief grow out of the same regrettable phenomena spawned by the Government's conduct of this case.

III. THE GOVERNMENT'S OTHER ARGUMENTS AGAINST DISMISSAL ARE SPURIOUS

The Government offers several additional arguments against temporary dismissal of the Indictment, each misconceived but deserving of answer.

A. Contrary to the Government's Assertion, This Court Has Not Definitively

Concluded that Service on the Individual Defendants Would be Valid Service as

to Megaupload

First, the Government contends that dismissal would be improper because the Court has "previously ruled that government's planned method of service (i.e., service upon officers and directors of the company upon extradition to the United States) would be consistent with the requirements of the Federal Rules." (Dkt. 132 at 2.) Contrary to the Government's assertion, however, this Court has yet to decide whether service on the individual defendants as alleged alter egos of Megaupload would constitute valid service on the corporate defendant. Rather, the Court has said only that "the Government may be able to prove that at least one of the individually named defendants is an alter ego of the corporate parent," and only if the individual defendants are ultimately extradited to the United States. (See Dkt. 127 at 4 (emphasis added).) Neither has occurred, and as the Court has acknowledged, they may never occur. (See Dkt. 127 at 5 n.6.) The status of this case remains that "[t]he government has not served, nor has it attempted to serve, the corporate Defendant." (Dkt. 127 at 2 n.3.) Especially considering that the Government has yet to offer any actual proof whatsoever of alter-ego status, it is inconceivable that the Government can stand on the proposition that service on that putative basis would ultimately be valid.

B. Any Delay in the Extradition Proceedings is Directly Attributable to the Government's Unlawful Conduct in New Zealand

The Government next argues that any harm Megaupload is suffering due to the delay in proceedings should not matter because, "[s]ince they were arrested in New Zealand in January of 2012, defendants Kim Dotcom, Mathias Ortmann, Finn Batato, and Bram van der Kolk have challenged nearly every aspect of the New Zealand-based warrants and extradition proceedings in a variety of courts." (Dkt. 132 at 6.) The Government's suggestion—that the exercise of the defendants' legal rights in this jurisdiction and abroad constitutes obstruction—is peculiar and off base. Furthermore, it is misleading given established facts that pass unmentioned by the Government. All the Government says is that some of the legal issues in New Zealand are "currently under review before the New Zealand Court of Appeal (and with the likely prospect of being ultimately resolved before the Supreme Court of New Zealand)." Yet it fails to mention that it was the *Government* that filed those appeals (in the interest of exercising its rights, we would acknowledge, and not obstruction). Still more important, and more telling, the Government fails to mention why it has filed those appeals—namely, because it has acted unlawfully, as determined by two separate branches of the New Zealand government.

The High Court in New Zealand issued an order on June 28, 2012, finding that search warrants executed in New Zealand were invalid, and that the resulting searches and seizures illegal. (*See* Judgment of Winkelmann J (June 28, 2012), attached as Exhibit A.) Specifically, the Court concluded:

The warrants did not adequately describe the offenses to which they related. Indeed they fell well short of that. They were general warrants, and as such, are invalid.

The warrants were expressed to authorise the search for and seizure of very broad categories of items. These categories of times were defined in such a way that they would inevitably capture within them both relevant and irrelevant material.

The Police acted on this authorisation. The warrants could not authorise seizure of irrelevant material, and are therefore invalid.

. . .

The Police relied on invalid warrants when they searched the properties and seized the various items. The search and seizure was therefore illegal.

(Exh. A at ¶¶ 144(a), (b), (d).) The High Court then concluded that the FBI specifically acted unlawfully when it took copies of data from Dotcom's computer offshore:

The release of the cloned hard drives to the FBI for shipping to the United States was contrary to the 16 February direction given under s 49(2) of the [Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters Act ("MACMA")] that the items seized were to remain in the custody and control of the Commissioner of Police. It was therefore in contravention of s 49(3) of the MACMA.

(Exh. A at \P 144(f).)

Most recently, in a September 27, 2012 letter to New Zealand Prime Minister John Key, New Zealand's inspector general of intelligence and security revealed that the Government Communications Security Bureau—a foreign intelligence agency—unlawfully spied on Kim Dotcom, who has resident status in New Zealand and therefore is a "protected person." (*See* Letter from D.P. Neazor to Prime Minister John Key (Sept. 27, 2012), attached as Exhibit B.) As a result of this revelation, Prime Minister Key issued a direct apology to Kim Dotcom. *See Megaupload Spying Case Brings New Zealand Apology*, B.B.C. NEWS, Sept. 27, 2012, *available at* http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/technology-19741343.

For the Government, in these circumstances, to fault Megaupload and its Co-Defendants for supposed "delay" associated with invoking their legal rights is to turn due process on its head. Because it is fairer to blame the wrongdoer rather than the party wronged for any delay associated with righting the wrong, it seems bizarre that the Government would be trying to hold the New Zealand proceedings, in which the individual defendants merely are exercising their

legal rights (and achieving considerable success with the New Zealand judiciary), against Megaupload or any of its Co-Defendants.

C. <u>Defendants Have Offered to Consider Waiving Extradition and Service, and Voluntarily Appearing in this Court, Subject to Reasonable Terms and Conditions</u>

Finally, the Government asks the Court to deny Megaupload's requested relief because it contends that dismissal—even a temporary one—would prejudice the United States, including by requiring the expenditure of additional prosecutorial resources to re-indict the company and by potentially rendering some of the charges against Megaupload untimely. (*See* Dkt. 132 at 11-12.) Of course, it is the Government that chose to bring criminal charges when it did, as it did; it is the Government that was obliged to serve a criminal summons on Megaupload in order to commence criminal proceedings; and it is the Government that stands to be held to account and to pay the fair price associated with any delay or ultimate inability to comply with its obligations. Again, Megaupload has already been made to pay a much dearer price, including loss of its business, reputation, assets, ability to fund its defense, *etc*. Any prejudice now claimed by the United States holds not a candle to the due process rights of the accused, unless and until Megaupload may be proven guilty, beyond a reasonable doubt, in a court of law.

Further, the Government's claim of prejudice should be assessed in light of Megaupload's offer to waive service of the summons and voluntarily plead not guilty in this Court. According to the Government's submission, Megaupload sought effectively to extort the Government by conditioning its waiver of service on "legal and financial considerations that would likely undermine the Court's discovery and trial procedures and improperly dissipate restrained illicit proceeds." (Dkt. 132 at 5.) Here, the Government is disclosing to the Court the parties' private settlement negotiations. What is worse, however, it is offering a distorted account of them that does not square with Megaupload's actual, written offer that the

Government neglects to provide. As Megaupload's letter to the Government (a copy of which we now provide as Exhibit C, because the Government has raised the matter and the Court deserves to have a precise and accurate account) clearly shows, Megaupload offered to waive service and appear for trial provided only that the Government agree to release sufficient funds to permit Megaupload to defend itself—as is, we continue respectfully to submit, Megaupload's constitutional right according to *United States v. Farmer*, 274 F.3d 800 (4th Cir. 2001). (*See* Dkt. 96-2.)

Only by the Government's perverse conception might Megaupload proceed on different terms—surrendering its obvious, unanswerable procedural objection under Rule 4 while exposing itself to numerous, complicated substantive charges as to which it has not a penny to fund substantive defense. If there is anything especially noteworthy about Megaupload's proposal for moving this case forward, it is this: Megaupload asked for nothing more than the practical ability to mount a full and fair substantive defense, in which event it would forgive the Government's demonstrated procedural failings—and the Government not only rejected that offer out of hand, but now treats it as cause for condemnation. Thus, the only proposal discernible by Megaupload for moving this case forward on the basis of the Superseding Indictment in a way that affords Megaupload some semblance of due process and meaningful confidence that it can have its day in Court has been rejected out of hand by the Government. The Government cannot now be heard to complain that it is being held to Rule 4 or else made to face the consequences for noncompliance, with no more room for practical compromise than it would afford the criminally accused.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Movants respectfully request that the Court grant the undersigned leave to appear on a limited and special basis in order to renew Megaupload's request to dismiss the Indictment without prejudice. Once leave is granted, specially appearing Defendant Megaupload Limited will respectfully renew its request—made at the July 27, 2012 hearing on the motion to dismiss—that the Court dismiss the indictment against it until such time as Megaupload may receive service and mailing in compliance with Rule 4.

Respectfully submitted,

Ira P. Rothken ROTHKEN LAW FIRM 3 Hamilton Landing Suite 280 Novato, CA 94949 (415) 924-4250 (415) 924-2905 (fax) ira@techfirm.net ______/s/ Heather H. Martin
William A. Burck
Derek L. Shaffer
Heather H. Martin (VSB # 65694)
QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART &
SULLIVAN LLP
1299 Pennsylvania Avenue N.W., Suite 825
Washington, D.C. 20004
(202) 538-8000
(202) 538-8100 (fax)
williamburck@quinnemanuel.com
derekshaffer@quinnemanuel.com
heathermartin@quinnemanuel.com

Carey R. Ramos
Robert L. Raskopf
Andrew H. Schapiro
QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART &
SULLIVAN LLP
51 Madison Avenue, 22nd Floor
New York, N.Y. 10010
(212) 849-7000
(212) 849-7100
careyramos@quinnemanuel.com
robertraskopf@quinnemanuel.com
andrewschapiro@quinnemanuel.com

Counsel for Defendant Megaupload Limited

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on November 1, 2012, the foregoing REBUTTAL MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF MOTION OF QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART & SULLIVAN LLP AND THE ROTHKEN LAW FIRM FOR LEAVE TO ENTER LIMITED AND SPECIAL APPEARANCE ON BEHALF OF MEGAUPLOAD LIMITED was filed and served electronically by the Court's CM/ECF system upon all registered users.

/s/ Heather H. Martin

Heather H. Martin (VSB # 65694) QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART & SULLIVAN LLP 1299 Pennsylvania Avenue N.W., Suite 825 Washington, D.C. 20004 (202) 538-8000 (202) 538-8100 (fax) heathermartin@quinnemanuel.com

EXHIBIT A

IN THE HIGH COURT OF NEW ZEALAND AUCKLAND REGISTRY

CIV-2012-404-1928 . [2012] NZHC 1494

UNDER

the Judicature Amendment Act 1972

IN THE MATTER OF

an application for judicial review and

application for order for interim relief

pursuant to section 8

BETWEEN

KIM DOTCOM

First Plaintiff

AND

FINN BATATO Second Plaintiff

AND

MATHIAS ORTMANN

Third Plaintiff

AND

BRAM VAN DER KOLK

Fourth Plaintiff

AND

ATTORNEY-GENERAL

First Defendant

AND

THE DISTRICT COURT AT NORTH

SHORE

Second Defendant

Hearing:

22 and 23 May, 6 June 2012

Counsel:

P Davison QC (22 & 23 May only), W Akel and R Woods for First

Plaintiff

G J Foley for Second, Third & Fourth Plaintiffs

M Ruffin (22 and 23 May only), F Sinclair for First Defendant (joined

in capacity as representative of New Zealand Police)

J Pike and A Toohey (6 June only) for First Defendant (joined in capacity as the Central Authority for the purposes of the Mutual

Assistance in Criminal Matters Act 1992)

Judgment:

28 June 2012

JUDGMENT OF WINKELMANN J

This judgment was delivered by me on 28 June 2012 at 3.30 pm pursuant to Rule 11.5 of the High Court Rules.

Registrar/ Deputy Registrar

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Int	Introduction		[1]
A.	Were the warrants invalid?		
	(i)	Factual background Execution of warrants and items seized	[9] [20]
	(ii)	Judicial review of search warrants issued under the MACMA	[27]
	(iii)	Is the offence adequately described in the warrants	[36]
	(iv)	Was there adequate definition of the authority to search and seize	[51]
	(v)	Should conditions have been imposed?	[78]
В.	Did	the Police seize items outside the scope of the search warrant?	? [87]
C. unla	Was wful?	the provision by the Police of copies of digital files to the FBI	[90]
	(i)	Does s 49 regulate physical custody of an item only?	[93]
	(ii)	Did the plaintiffs consent to images of computer hard drives being shipped to the FBI offshore?	[98]
		First phase	[104]
		Second phase	[118]
		Third phase	[122]
		Was there consent?	[134]
	(iii)	Would the Solicitor-General have consented to the shipment?	[141]
Sum	mary	of findings	[144]
Relia	ef		[145]

Introduction

- [1] The government of the United States of America seeks extradition of the plaintiffs in relation to charges stemming from their operation of the Megaupload business, a business which allows customers to upload bulk amounts of data to the internet, and share that data with others. The allegation is that the Megaupload platform has been used by customers in widespread breach of copyright. The United States has asked the Attorney-General of New Zealand for the New Zealand Police's assistance with the investigation of that suspected criminal offending. That request has been made under the Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters Act 1992 (MACMA), an Act to facilitate the provision and obtaining of international assistance in criminal matters.
- [2] In fulfilment of that request the Police have taken a number of steps including arresting the plaintiffs, carrying out searches, seizing assets, and obtaining orders freezing assets. The plaintiffs seek a judicial review of three search warrants issued by the North Shore District Court and executed by police in January 2012 at addresses associated with the first plaintiff, Mr Dotcom, and the fourth plaintiff, Mr Van Der Kolk, but at which assets of all four plaintiffs were seized.
- [3] The plaintiffs allege that the search warrants were unlawful. They contend that the warrants were unreasonably broad in their terms; lacking specificity as to the charges to which the searches related, and as to the items to be searched for. It is further argued that the warrants should have prescribed a process for dealing with items taken away following the search, because the warrant authorised the search and seizure of digital storage devices which would inevitably store at least some irrelevant information. It was also known that the items seized were to be sent to the investigating authorities in the United States. It is argued that the Court should have stipulated conditions for the return to the plaintiffs of the original items, or at least

clones¹ of those items, and a procedure for safeguarding irrelevant and privileged material from access by the investigating authorities.

- [4] The plaintiffs also seek to review the actions of the Police in executing the search warrants, on the grounds that they exceeded their powers in seizing and holding the items that they did.
- [5] The first defendant was originally joined in the proceedings for, and on behalf of the Police. During the course of the initial hearing of the application for review, I was told by counsel for the first defendant that the Police had allowed the FBI to ship to the United States images of the content stored on the digital storage devices, that is to say, clones of the hard drives of those devices. The Police sought leave to file further evidence explaining the circumstances in which this occurred. That leave was granted and the initial hearing came to an end.
- [6] Following the receipt of the additional information, the plaintiffs sought leave to amend their pleadings to add to the relief sought a declaration that removal from New Zealand of clones of the hard drives was unlawful. That leave was granted unopposed. At the request of the first defendant, there was then a further day's hearing in respect of this new aspect to the proceeding. I gave leave to Mr Pike and Ms Toohey to appear as counsel for the first defendant, but appearing for the Attorney-General in the Attorney's capacity as the Central Authority for New Zealand. "Central Authority" is defined in the MACMA as "the person or authority for the time being designated by that country for the purposes of transmitting or receiving requests made under or pursuant to" MACMA.²
- [7] The plaintiffs now seek relief in the amended statement of claim which includes declarations that the warrants and removal of clones from New Zealand were unlawful, and also the making of orders as to how the items seized are to be dealt with by the Police.

Throughout this judgment the expressions cloning and imaging are used interchangeably. There is some evidence that the processes involved in cloning and in forensic imaging may be different, but that difference is not material for the purposes of this judgment.

Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters Act 1992, s 2.

- [8] The issues that arise in this proceeding are as follows:
 - (i) Were the warrants invalid because of lack of detail as to the offences to which they related, and the parameters of the search, and/or because of the failure to attach sufficient conditions?
 - (ii) In any case, have the Police exceeded the authority conferred upon them by the warrants?
 - (iii) Did the Police act unlawfully in allowing the FBI to transport clones of hard drives overseas?
 - (iv) What, if any relief should be granted in connection with any invalidity or illegality?

A. Were the warrants invalid?

(i) Factual background

- [9] The plaintiffs have interests in the Megaupload group of companies, which includes Megaupload Limited, Megavideo Limited and Megastuff Limited, the latter a New Zealand registered company. The plaintiffs Mr Dotcom and Mr Van Der Kolk are resident in New Zealand.
- [10] On 5 January 2012, prosecuting authorities in the United States obtained an indictment from a Grand Jury in the State of West Virginia, charging the plaintiffs, along with other individuals and corporate entities (including Megaupload Limited), with breach of copyright, conspiracy to breach copyright, conspiracy to racketeer and money laundering. Under United States law, "racketeering" involves a criminal enterprise that is focused on committing or furthering any of a number of criminal offences, including money laundering and criminal breach of copyright.
- [11] The charges flow from the activities of the Megaupload business. The FBI contends that the plaintiffs and companies in the Megaupload group were part of a

conspiracy, which the FBI for operational purposes has called the "mega-conspiracy". The criminal objects of the conspiracy are alleged to have been to administer internet websites which were used by others to reproduce and distribute infringing copies of television programmes, software, music and motion pictures, and also to conduct monetary transactions with the proceeds of those unlawful activities. The FBI's case is that Megastuff Ltd was involved in the transfer and distribution of illicit proceeds generated from the website.

[12] From early 2011 the Police were involved in providing direct assistance to the FBI in relation to the FBI's investigation. Police assistance was initially provided informally, on an agency to agency basis, but in a letter dated 11 January 2012 the United States Central Authority³ requested the Attorney-General for assistance on a government to government basis.⁴ The letter stated that various authorities, including the FBI were investigating the "mega-conspiracy", its officers and employees, including Mr Dotcom and Mr Van Der Kolk and Megastuff Ltd. It was alleged that members of the mega-conspiracy knew how their websites were used by others, had themselves used the systems to upload as well as reproduce and distribute copyrighted content and were aware that they had benefited financially directly from massive infringement of copyrighted material. The United States Central Authority sought assistance including:

... assistance in the search of property and seizure of evidence located in New Zealand; in the interviewing of witnesses and targets; and in the collection of other business and official records.

[13] The letter of request stated that evidence was needed in order to further demonstrate that the mega-conspiracy's directors and employees were aware that Megaupload's websites were regularly used to reproduce and distribute infringing copies of copyright works, to gain a better understanding of and document the mega-conspiracy's activities, and to identify additional individuals who were working with the mega-conspiracy. The United States Central Authority requested that two properties of Mr Dotcom be searched at a time when it was known that Mr Dotcom's

Department of Justice of the United States of America.

The Department of Justice is the requesting, and the Attorney-General the receiving, Central Authority.

business associates, Mr Batato and Mr Ortmann, would be present, attending Mr Dotcom's birthday celebration. The property of Mr Van Der Kolk was also to be searched. Law enforcement authorities were asked to seize "all evidence, fruits and instrumentalities of the crime being investigated, including, but not limited to, the following ...". The letter then listed six categories of documents and things that should be seized, and concluded, at page 36:

Please have the seizing officials complete the attached Certificate With Respect to Seized Items and forward the seized articles with the certificate to the appropriate authorities for transmittal to the United States.

[14] On 17 January 2012, the Deputy Solicitor-General, acting with the delegated authority of the Attorney-General, issued an authorisation for the Police to apply for search warrants for the search and seizure of "evidence, fruits and instrumentalities" including but not limited to the six categories of documents and things. The authorisation stated that the relevant offences alleged to have been committed under United States law for the purposes of the warrant were:

Conspiracy to commit racketeering, in violation of title 18 United States Code, Section 1962(d), which carries a maximum penalty of twenty years of imprisonment.

Conspiracy to commit copyright infringement, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371, which carries a maximum penalty of five years of imprisonment.

Conspiracy to launder monetary instruments, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h), which carries a maximum penalty of twenty years of imprisonment.

Criminal copyright infringement by distributing a work on a computer network, and aiding and abetting of criminal copyright infringement, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 & 2319, and Title 17, United States Code, Section 506, which carries a maximum penalty of five years of imprisonment.

Criminal copyright infringement by electronic means, and aiding and abetting of criminal copyright infringement, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 & 2319, and Title 17, United States Code, Section 506, which carries a maximum penalty of five years of imprisonment.

See: Constitution Act 1986, s 9C.

[15] Crown counsel and legal advisors to the Police appeared before Judge McNaughton in the District Court at North Shore on 18 January. The Judge did not have time to deal with the application for the warrants at that time and it was stood down, the application coming again before the Judge on 19 January 2012. At that time, Detective Sergeant Nigel McMorran swore an affidavit before the Judge which formed the application for search warrant, made under ss 43 and 44 of the MACMA. Those sections provide:

43 Assistance in obtaining article or thing by search and seizure

- (1) A foreign country may request the Attorney-General to assist in obtaining an article or thing by search and seizure.
- (2) Where, on receipt of a request made under subsection (1) of this section by a foreign country, the Attorney-General is satisfied—
 - (a) That the request relates to a criminal matter in that foreign country in respect of an offence punishable by imprisonment for a term of 2 years or more; and
 - (b) That there are reasonable grounds for believing that an article or thing relevant to the proceedings is located in New Zealand,—

the Attorney-General may authorise a member of the Police, in writing, to apply to a District Court Judge for a search warrant in accordance with section 44 of this Act.

44 Search warrants

- (1) Any District Court Judge who, on an application in writing made on oath, is satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for believing that there is in or on any place or thing—
 - (a) Any thing upon or in respect of which any offence under the law of a foreign country punishable by imprisonment for a term of 2 years or more has been, or is suspected of having been, committed; or
 - (b) Any thing which there are reasonable grounds for believing will be evidence as to the commission of any such offence; or
 - (c) Any thing which there are reasonable grounds for believing is intended to be used for the purpose of committing any such offence—

may issue a search warrant in respect of that thing.

(2) An application for a warrant under subsection (1) of this section may be made only by a member of the Police authorised under section 43(2) of this Act.

...

[16] The application repeated much of the material in the United States Central Authority's letter of request, but no mention was made in the body of Detective Sergeant McMorran's affidavit that the seized items were to be sent to the FBI in the United States. The letter of request referring to that fact was, however, attached as an exhibit to the affidavit. The memorandum filed in support of the application for the warrants did not address the issue of what was to be done with the items seized. For reasons not explained in the affidavits filed in this proceeding, warrants were sought only in respect of the suspected breach of copyright and money laundering offending, and were not sought in respect of conspiracy to commit copyright infringement, conspiracy to commit racketeering or conspiracy to money launder.

[17] Warrants were issued in respect of the three addresses for which the request was made. The warrants authorised search and seizure of items pursuant to s 44(1)(a) and (b), but not s 44(1)(c).

[18] Each warrant was issued in the following form:⁶

To: Every Constable

(or to

, constable)

I am satisfied on an application

(in writing made on oath/affirmation)

• • •

THAT there is reasonable ground for believing that there is (are) in any building, aircraft, carriage, vehicle, box, receptacle, premises or place situated at [the address], the following thing(s), namely:

As per Appendix "A"

With minor immaterial variations.

(upon or in respect of which an offence of Breach of Copy Right and Money Laundering has been or is suspected of having been committed)

(or which there is reasonable ground to believe will be evidence as to the commission of an offence of Breach of Copy Right and Money Laundering)

•••

THIS IS TO AUTHORISE YOU at any time or times within 14 days from the date of this warrant to enter and search the said building, aircraft, carriage, vehicle, box, receptacle, premises or place situated at [address], with such assistants as may be necessary, and if necessary to use force for making entry, whether by breaking open doors or otherwise, and also to break open the box (receptacle) (any box or receptacle therein or thereon) by force if necessary; and also to seize:

(any thing upon or in respect of which the offence has been or is suspected of having been committed)

(or any thing which there is reasonable ground to believe will be evidence as to the commission of the offence)

...

DATED at Auckland this 19th day of January 2012.

[19] Appendix A attached to each of the warrants read as follows:

All evidence, fruits, and instrumentalities of the crimes being investigated including, but not limited to, the following:

- Indicia of occupancy or residence in, and/or ownership of, the property;
- All documents and things in whatever form relating to the reproduction and distribution of copyrighted works, including, but not limited to, motion pictures, television programs, musical recordings, electronic books, images, video games, and other computer software;
- All records and things in whatever form, including communications, relating to the activities of the Mega Conspiracy, including, but not limited to, Megaupload, Megavideo, and Megastuff Limited;
- All bank records, deposit slips, withdrawal slips, cheques, money orders, wire transfer records, invoices, purchase orders, ledgers, and receipts;
- All documents that reference shipments, imports, exports, customs or seizures:
- All digital devices, including electronic devices capable of storing and/or processing data in digital form, including, but not limited to;

- Central processing units;
- o Rack-mounted, desktop, laptop, or notebook computers;
- o Web servers;
- o Personal digital assistants;
- Wireless communication devices, such as telephone paging devices;
- o Beepers;
- Mobile telephones;
- Peripheral input/output devices, such as keyboards, printers, scanners, plotters, monitors, and drives intended for removable media;
- Related communication devices, such as modems, routers, cables, and connections;
- Storage media, including external hard drives, universal serial bus ("USB") drives, and compact discs;
- Security devices.

Execution of warrants and items seized

- [20] The warrants were executed on 20 January 2012. In an affidavit filed in this proceeding the officer in charge of the operation, Detective Inspector Grant Wormald, describes how all police involved in the search received briefings as to the nature of the case before that search. The briefings included what was evidence and what was likely to contain evidence relevant to the proceedings in the United States. The additional staff called upon to assist were also fully briefed, either in the days leading up to or on the morning of the execution of the search warrant.
- [21] Once on site Detective Inspector Wormald relied on the expertise of the Police Electronic Crime Laboratory ("ECL") staff to determine which items would be required and were relevant in terms of the search warrant. He said that Police protocol for dealing with electronic items dictates that electronic items seized under warrant are not to be examined by the searchers because of the risk the data will be lost or altered and the integrity of the exhibit thereby harmed. The protocol necessitates that items specified in the warrant, in this case essentially all of the data

storage devices, had to be seized so the content could be forensically examined offsite, under forensically sound conditions and by appropriately qualified staff.

[22] He describes the approach when seizing items. Documentary items were primarily seized at the scene on the basis they might contain relevant information for the investigators and therefore evidence. He continues:

Similarly to computers and electronic storage devices it is all but impossible to interrogate the significance of a document at a scene with certainty, thus in practice those deemed to be covered by the search warrant are seized for closer inspection by those investigators able to make the final determination.

- [23] Detective Inspector Wormald said that although the Police were able to decide what documents and digital storage devices should be seized on the basis that they might contain relevant information for the United States investigators, the Police had and have no request from the Central Authority to proceed to assess those things for relevance. In this case, the assessment for relevance will have to be done by the United States authorities, as they are the investigators. The Police are not in a position to undertake that assessment. It was also his understanding and instruction in planning the operation, that the Attorney-General would direct that the items seized pursuant to the warrants would immediately be sent to the United States to be forensically processed and examined there. The digital items were not to be examined in New Zealand.
- [24] Detective Inspector Wormald was aware that Mr Dotcom employed several domestic staff, some of whom lived on either of his two properties. He was aware that the applications for the warrants did not set out proposed conditions as to how to deal with the property of third parties or other irrelevant items, but he believed there was no requirement that they do so. In his experience no search warrant application made domestically (save for a search warrant to be executed in a lawyer's office) would set out any such conditions.
- [25] In an affidavit filed in this proceeding Mr Allan Langille, the Supervisor of Digital Forensics at ECL confirms that ECL has not analysed any of the devices. He is however, able to estimate that 150 terabytes of data has been seized. It is common ground that a large number of digital storage devices and a very large volume of data

has been seized. Mr Langille says that the ECL does not have the capacity to undertake the imaging, storage and analysis of the amount of data seized during the investigation without expending a considerable amount of money to employ staff, purchase analysis equipment and for storage of the forensic images.

[26] Mr Thomas Song, Deputy Director of the United States Department of Justice, Criminal Division Cybercrime Laboratories has also filed an affidavit in which he says that he has been told by FBI agents that some of the digital storage devices contain encrypted drives or volumes. The plaintiffs have not provided the passwords to enable that material to be easily accessed. He says that it is essential that the Department of Justice's Cybercrime laboratory maintain custody and control of the original digital evidence to preserve its integrity. This will avoid the necessity for a technical expert from New Zealand to travel to the United States to testify at trial. He continues:

In addition, this is necessary, in part, because by the time the criminal matter goes to trial, new issues may have arisen, often due to arguments raised by the defence, which would require searching the electronics with different keywords and topics.

(ii) Judicial review of search warrants issued under the MACMA

[27] Since Entick v Carrington⁷ the Courts have been prepared to review the issue and execution of warrants where their legality is challenged. The fundamental duty of the Courts is to uphold the rule of law. In this context the Court's role is to ensure that those who wield the powers of State do so in compliance with the law.

[28] A search warrant authorises a significant invasion of privacy and interference with the exercise of property rights. Section 21 of the New Zealand Bill of Rights. Act 1990 provides:

Everyone has the right to be secure against unreasonable search or seizure, whether of the person, property, or correspondence or otherwise.

⁷ Entick v Carrington (1765) 19 St Tr 1029.

Intrusions upon the privacy and property rights of individuals must have a proper legal basis. A search warrant is a document evidencing judicial authority to search. For this reason the Courts have insisted that warrants be drawn so as to make clear the precise parameters of the authority to intrude upon those rights. Thus in *Tranz Rail Ltd v Wellington District Court* the Court of Appeal said:⁸

For centuries the law has set its face against general warrants and held them to be invalid. Entry onto or into premises pursuant to an invalid warrant is unlawful and a trespass: Leach v Money (1765) 19 State Tr 1002; Chic Fashions (West Wales) Ltd v Jones [1968] 2 QB 299; and Auckland Medical Aid Trust v Taylor [1975] 1 NZLR 728 at p 733 per McCarthy P. A general warrant in this context is a warrant which does not describe the parameters of the warrant, either as to subject-matter or location, with enough specificity.

[29] It is not every defect in a search warrant that will justify the grant of relief on judicial review. A Court is unlikely to grant relief where the defect is of a minor or technical nature. The applicants have to show that the defect is fundamental, but general warrants are fundamentally deficient. If a warrant is invalid then any search and seizure undertaken in reliance upon it is unauthorised and therefore illegal.

[30] For the first defendant reliance is placed on dicta of the Court of Appeal in Gill v Attorney-General¹⁰ to support the submission that judicial review is an exceptional remedy and that the Courts are reluctant to review the legality of the issue and execution of warrants. This is said to be particularly so when an investigation into alleged criminal offending is at an early stage, as is the case here, and particularly where other remedies are available to the subject of the search, including the ability to have any evidence excluded under s 30 of the Evidence Act 2006.

[31] Mr Pike for the New Zealand Central Authority takes this submission further. He submits that the current litigation is a collateral attack on the search warrant process because there is no criminal process in train in New Zealand; the relevant trial process has commenced in the requesting state with the filing of indictments.

⁸ Tranz Rail Ltd v Wellington District Court [2002] 3 NZLR 780 at 793.

⁹ Gill v Attorney-General [2010] NZCA 468, [2011] 1 NZLR 433 at [16] – [29].

¹⁰ Ibid.

Although he concedes that the New Zealand courts can review the legality of the warrants and their execution, the purpose of the MACMA process and the underlying international legal principles should inform the approach to that challenge. He submits that, just as was observed in *Gill*, where the challenge is based on questions that in a criminal setting would go to admissibility, the question must be whether those matters are better and more appropriately resolved by the trial court; in this case, the trial court of the requesting state.

[32] The point that the purposes of the MACMA regime must be taken into account when considering its provisions is well made. Underlying the MACMA regime is the concept of international comity, and also the expectation that assistance provided by the Police will be reciprocated when required. The international background to the MACMA is the Harare Scheme (a Commonwealth mutual assistance regime) and the United Nations Model Treaty on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters (adopted by General Assembly Resolution 45/117 of 14 December 1990). In Solicitor General v Bujak¹¹ the Court of Appeal discussed the implications of the MACMA as follows:

[25] The MACMA's enactment to implement the Treaty recalls an observation in *Avowal* at [21]:

A regime of obstruction has been replaced by one containing a large element of cross-border cooperation.

As was stated in *A Ltd v Director of the Serious Fraud Office* HC AK CIV-2005-404-6833 28 March 2007 at [113]:

... New Zealand accepts responsibility as a member of the world community to promote and maintain the rule of law internationally.

The MACMA is to be construed and applied in that light.

[33] The obligations of cross-border co-operation do not of course require a hands-off approach from the courts, and the MACMA regime only contemplates the provision of assistance permitted by our domestic laws. It would not be consistent

Solicitor General v Bujak [2008] NZCA 334.

with the object of promoting the rule of law internationally, were the domestic courts to refuse to review the lawfulness of warrants obtained under the MACMA regime.

[34] It is also significant that the New Zealand Parliament chose to model the provisions relating to the issue of search warrants on other domestic statutory provisions relating to the issue of search warrants including s 198 of the Summary Proceedings Act 1957. In *R v Bujak* the Court of Appeal was addressing different provisions in the MACMA, but the reasoning in the following passage applies with equal force in this case:¹²

In short, in a general way the New Zealand Parliament elected to give as much assistance in New Zealand to overseas law enforcement agencies as it would to New Zealand authorities, but no more. For it would be a rather odd result if a foreign law enforcement agency could get more by way of preconviction relief here than would be had by a New Zealand agency.

[35] The domestic courts are best placed to determine compliance with domestic laws, and for these plaintiffs there is no alternative remedy in New Zealand for any invalidity and illegality involved in the search and seizure process. If having conducted a review, it is determined that there was a fundamental defect in the warrant, it is difficult to see why a Court should decline to declare as much, even where trial processes are engaged in another jurisdiction. The issue of the engagement of criminal trial process counts, if it counts, at the point of time of determining what relief should be granted. As to the first defendant's reliance on Gill, that case was concerned with very different facts. Judicial observations that there is something exceptional about the availability of judicial review need to be viewed within the particular context in which they arise. Where genuine (non technical) grounds for review are made out, it will be the refusal of relief (even if only in the form of a declaration) that is the exceptional course, rather than the reverse. 13

R v Bujak [2007] NZCA 347 at [47].

¹³ Tranz Rail Ltd v Wellington District Court at [45].

(iii) Is the offence adequately described in the warrants?

[36] It is logical to start with the statutory requirements as to the form and content of a MACMA warrant. Those particulars are set out in s 45:

45 Form and content of search warrant

- (1) Every warrant issued under section 44 of this Act shall be in the prescribed form.
- (2) Every warrant issued under section 44 of this Act shall be directed to any member of the Police by name, or to any class of members of the Police specified in the warrant, or generally to every member of the Police.
- (3) Every warrant issued under section 44 of this Act shall be subject to such special conditions (if any) as the District Court Judge may specify in the warrant.
- (4) Every warrant issued under section 44 of this Act shall contain the following particulars:
 - (a) The place or thing that may be searched pursuant to the warrant:
 - (b) The offence or offences in respect of which the warrant is issued:
 - (c) A description of the articles or things that are authorised to be seized:
 - (d) The period during which the warrant may be executed, being a period not exceeding 14 days from the date of issue:
 - (e) Any conditions specified by the Judge pursuant to subsection (3) of this section.
- [37] The prescribed form referred to is form 5 in the Schedule to the Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters Regulations 1993. It requires that the country under whose laws the offence is alleged to have been committed be stipulated.
- [38] As s 45(4)(b) provides, any warrant issued must relate to the particular offence or offences in respect of which it was sought. When ss 44 and 45 are read together, it is clear that the authority to search and seize conferred by the warrant must also be so limited. In the absence of detail limiting the warrant in this way, the

warrant is a general warrant. The MACMA does not authorise the issue of general warrants, and as previously noted, the law "sets its face against them." ¹⁴

[39] Here, the critical detail in the warrants related to the allegation of breach of copyright offending. It is common ground that the money laundering offence alleged was contingent upon the breach of copyright, and flowed from it. Without proper definition as to the primary offence, there could be little definition as to what was relevant to that secondary offence of money laundering.

[40] As is properly conceded by Mr Ruffin for the Police, there are deficiencies in the description of the offences in this case. The warrants do not stipulate that the offences of breach of copyright and money laundering are offences under the law of the United States of America, nor that they are punishable by a sentence of imprisonment of two years or more. They do not refer to any statutory provision to enable the subject of the warrant to understand the nature of the offences referred to. The failure to refer to the laws of the United States on the face of the warrants, would no doubt have caused confusion to the subjects of the searches. They would likely read the warrants as authorising a search for evidence of offences as defined by New Zealand's law. The only clue that they are not is that each warrant is headed "The Mutual Assistance in Criminal Matters Act 1992". That is not much of a clue.

[41] Mr Davison does not argue that these deficiencies on their own render the warrants invalid, but rather that they contribute to the lack of precision infecting the entirety of the warrants. He says that in describing the offence simply as breach of copyright, without stipulating the country in which the offence was alleged to have been committed, or the nature of the alleged breach of copyright, the warrant provided inadequate definition of the offence. A necessary consequence of that was that it also provided inadequate definition of what could be searched for. Copyright can exist in many things. A breach of copyright can be effected in many ways. These were general warrants both in form and reality.

¹⁴ Tranz Rail Ltd v Wellington District Court at [38], above n 7.

[42] In Auckland Medical Aid Trust v Taylor, ¹⁵ a warrant was classified as general where it stipulated the offence as "abortion" rather than specifying a particular instance of illegal termination of pregnancy. ¹⁶ McCarthy P said: ¹⁷

If then a warrant can only be issued following information relating to a particular offence and in respect of that offence, one would expect to see in the warrant particulars which indicate the offence with sufficient particularity at least to enable the officer executing it and the person in respect of whose premises it is issued to know what the offence is.

[43] After discussing the inadequacy of the description of the offence, McCarthy P went on to say of the applicant police officer: 18

... what he wanted and what he thought he got, was a general warrant to search for evidence of any of the offences covered by ss 182 to 186 of the Crimes Act. In my view, it would be contrary to the role which the Courts of our tradition have always adopted of protecting the integrity of a man's premises and of viewing in a conservative way the extension of statutory powers to interfere with privacy, if we were to uphold the warrant in this case.

[44] The warrant must be framed with as much specificity as the relevant context permits. 19 Detail of the specific offence is important because it is a requirement of the statutory scheme. It is a requirement of the statutory scheme because it defines the extent of the authority to search and seize. It informs the person or persons searching of the parameters of the Police's authority to search and seize goods. It also provides the subject of the search with enough information to enable the subject to obtain legal advice about the permitted limits of that search. For this reason s 47 of the MACMA requires that the police officer executing the warrant issued under s 44 have the warrant with him or her, and produce it on initial entry and at any subsequent time.

¹⁵ Auckland Medical Aid Trust v Taylor and Ors [1975] 1 NZLR 728.

A point taken on appeal was that there was no such offence as "abortion", the type of offence referred to was "procuring an abortion". However the Court said that a misdescription of that type in the warrant, provided it would not mislead anyone, was a defect or irregularity of form which did not invalidate the warrant. A much more fundamental error was the failure to stipulate the particular offence or offences rather than simply the type of offence.

¹⁷ At 736,

¹⁸ At 737.

¹⁹ A Firm of Solicitors v District Court at Auckland [2006] 1 NZLR 586 (CA) at [75].

[45] I agree with the plaintiffs that the words "breach of copyright" do not comply with the requirements of the Act or those of the regulations. They describe the type of offence, and then do so inaccurately. They provide no detail as to the particular offence or offences. The requirement imposed by s 45 is not to describe the type of offence, but rather *the* offence or offences in respect of which the warrant was sought and obtained.

[46] Copyright may be breached in a multiplicity of ways, and a breach of copyright may involve a multiplicity of media. The warrant authorised the Police to search for any offence of breach of copyright. Because warrants should be construed as a whole, I have considered what other material there is that might assist in defining the offence.²⁰ Although close inspection of Appendix A reveals clues that the suspected breach or breaches of copyright involved the use of electronic media, that was neither a necessary nor obvious conclusion. Particularly since there were contraindications in the list such as the item "All documents that reference shipments, imports, exports, customs or seizures". In any case the subject of the warrant should not be left to attempt to guess the purposes of the warrant through deductive reasoning. It should be spelt out plainly in the required part. And to say a breach of copyright involves the use of electronic media scarcely limits the field.

[47] There is evidence in this case that greater specificity was immediately to hand in relation to the suspected breached of copyright and could have been provided. The terms of the authorisation to apply for search warrant addressed to Detective Sergeant McMorran described the breach of copyright offending in the following way:

Criminal copyright infringement by distributing a work on a computer network, and aiding and abetting of criminal copyright infringement, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 2319, and Title 17, United States Code, Section 506, which carries a maximum penalty of five years of imprisonment.

Criminal copyright infringement by electronic means, and aiding and abetting of criminal copyright infringement, in violation of Title 18, United

Rural Timber Ltd v Hughes [1989] 3 NZLR 178; R v Sanders [1994] 3 NZLR 450, 454.

States Code, Sections 2 and 2319, and Title 17, United States Code, Section 506, which carries a maximum penalty of five years of imprisonment.

- [48] I am inclined to think that even that level of detail fell short of what could and should have been provided, lacking as it did reference to the involvement of the Megaupload business in the alleged offending. There is reference to the "megaconspiracy" in the appendix, but because there is no description or definition of what that was, the reference adds to, rather than removes the confusion.
- [49] To conclude on this point, the warrants did not adequately describe the offences to which they related. Indeed they fell well short of that. They were general warrants, and as such, are invalid.
- Before I leave this topic, there is one further peculiarity about the form in [50] which the warrants were sought and issued which I record: the applications did not extend to racketeering, or to conspiracy to commit copyright infringement. It included money laundering rather than conspiracy to commit money laundering. The Police were authorised to apply for a warrant in relation to the five listed offences and Appendix A list was linked by the United States Central Authority to those offences. It is perhaps understandable why an application was not made in respect of "racketeering" as the evidence would likely be the same as for the other offences, and there may have been a concern that racketeering is an offence unfamiliar to a New Zealand Judge. But the allegation of conspiracy brought in to the mix inchoate offending, which the allegation of breach of copyright and money laundering did not. Appendix A was clearly framed in light of that additional level of offending, referring as it does to evidence of the mega-conspiracy. However, since this aspect of the application and warrant was not explored in argument, and was in any event not likely to be determinative, I put it to one side for the purposes of this judgment.

(iv) Was there adequate definition of the authority to search and seize?

[51] As outlined above, the adequacy of the definition of the scope of the search is not capable of separation from the issue of specificity as to the definition of the offence. If there is inadequate specificity as to the offending to which the warrant

relates, it is likely that there is inadequate specificity as to the extent of the authority bestowed by it to search and seize items. Nevertheless, there are some particular points raised by the plaintiffs that relate to Appendix A that need to be addressed separately.

- [52] The plaintiffs note that the warrant commences with the statement that the issuing judicial officer is satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for believing that the items listed in Appendix A in effect, fall within either s 44(1)(a) or (b). They argue that the warrant therefore authorised the seizure of the Appendix A items and that the categories in Appendix A were so broadly drawn that it was inevitable that the Police would seize irrelevant documents and irrelevant digital files, the latter stored within the hard drives of the digital devices.
- [53] For the defendant, Mr Ruffin says that the categories stipulated in Appendix A are limited by the fact that the warrant only authorised the seizure of "anything upon or in respect of which the offence has been or is suspected of having been committed (or anything which there is reasonable ground to believe will be evidence as to the commission of the offence)".
- [54] Again, the starting point is the MACMA. The warrants could only lawfully authorise seizure of items to the extent allowed under the MACMA. Section 46 describes the powers conferred by the warrant, and s 46(1)(d) provides that subject to any special conditions specified in the warrant, every warrant issued under s 44 authorises the Police to search for and seize anything referred to in s 44(1).
- [55] I accept the plaintiffs' submission that even when each of the warrants is construed as a whole, their form is such that they would most likely be read as authorising the seizure of all of the items in Appendix A. This is because the issuing Judge has expressed himself as satisfied that "all" of the items within the second to sixth listed bullet points in the appendix fall within s 44(1)(a) or (b).
- [56] The issuing judge could not have been satisfied that there were reasonable grounds for suspecting that *all* of the things listed in Appendix A were evidence of breach of copyright or the related money laundering, when those categories were so

broadly drawn. For example, had he turned his mind to it, he would have identified that the digital devices listed in Appendix A would most likely store some irrelevant material, probably a large volume of irrelevant material, since the warrants were to be executed at domestic properties. He might also have identified the real possibility that not all of the accounting material or shipping documents would be relevant.

[57] Mr Davison makes an additional point in relation to the following item in Appendix A:

All records and things in whatever form, including communications, relating to the activities of the Mega Conspiracy, including but not limited to, Megaupload, Megavideo and Megastuff Limited.

- [58] He submits that because of the inclusion of the expression "Mega Conspiracy" in this item, its meaning is obscure. I accept his submission that without definition of the "Mega Conspiracy" it is hard to imagine what falls within this category.
- [59] Mr Ruffin would have been on stronger ground with his arguments if Appendix A had simply listed categories coherently described within which items of evidence might exist. That would have clearly cast the onus upon the Police to undertake the sorting and sifting exercise that would be expected. Appendix A is not, however, drafted in that way.
- [60] I have reflected upon whether this is an overly technical construction of the warrants. I do not think that it is, and indeed the evidence suggests that the Police sought warrants that authorised the seizure of entire categories of items because of the methodology they had settled upon for complying with the request for assistance. It is clear from the evidence of Detective Inspector Wormald that it was the intention of the Police to seek warrants that authorised the seizure of anything that might possibly be relevant, in the knowledge that irrelevant material would be caught up in the net that was cast. As Detective Inspector Wormald explained, the Police needed to seize such broad categories of items because the Police were not able to assess relevance, and indeed had no request to do so. That would have to be done by the FBI and the FBI would do that offshore. Seizing the categories of items was the assistance which the Police were requested to provide.

- [61] The Police clearly believed that they had obtained a warrant that authorised this approach, and one can understand the operational imperatives that drove this, given the need to leave the ultimate determination of relevance to the FBI. There were ways around this however, and operational difficulties cannot expand the scope of the authority it was possible to confer on the Police under ss 44, 45 and 46 of the MACMA.
- [62] It is also argued that the seizure of all digital devices was authorised because they were devices on which the offence had been committed. Special Agent Poston refers to the significance of electronic fingerprints on the electronic devices. That could justify retention of the hardware involved in a digital storage device but not the irrelevant digital information contained on it. These digital devices were to be taken from residential properties. In this day and age computers (and even phones) are used by individuals and families to store a wide range of material and information, family photos and films; personal correspondence (emails) and generally information of a private and purely personal nature.
- [63] It is true, as Detective Inspector Wormald identifies, that a practice has grown up of police taking away from a search site material for the purposes of undertaking a sorting exercise offsite to separate the relevant from the irrelevant, and, given that approach, it is inevitable that some irrelevant material will be taken from the search site. The practice that Detective Inspector Wormald describes has been the subject of judicial consideration in the past. A review of the cases reveals, as one would expect, that this is a practice which has parameters.
- [64] In A Firm of Solicitors v District Court at Auckland²¹ the Court of Appeal addressed two conflicting English authorities which dealt with the extent of the authority of police officers to take from a search site material for the purpose of offsite sorting of relevant from the irrelevant. In Reynolds v Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis²² the English Court of Appeal held that a warrant issued under the Forgery Act 1913 (UK) could not authorise the police officer executing it to

A Firm of Solicitors v District Court at Auckland [2006] 1 NZLR 586.

Reynolds v Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis [1985] QB 881, [1984] 3 All ER 649 (CA).

indiscriminately remove from premises every book, file, bundle or document he could lay his hands on, even for the purpose of temporary sorting. Removing material, even for the purpose of sifting offsite, was a seizure. But the officer executing the warrant was entitled to remove from premises files, books, bundles or documents which, at the time of removal, he reasonably believed contained forged material or material which might otherwise be of evidential value. If that occurred, any subsequent sorting process had to be carried out expeditiously, with non-evidential material being returned promptly.

[65] The conflicting authority the Court of Appeal considered is *R v Chesterfield Justices*, ex p Bramley.²³ In that case, Kennedy LJ limited the application of the principles enunciated in Reynolds to the specific legislation. He accepted the approach described in Reynolds was a common-sense answer to the situation faced by an officer executing a warrant, when dealing with a large volume of material. However, the practice of offsite sorting could not be authorised by a statutory provision which permits the person executing the warrant to seize only items which he or she reasonably believes are evidence in relation to an offence under investigation. Where seizure involves items which do not fit within those categories, unless the consent of the owner of the premises is obtained, the person executing the warrant would have no defence to an action for trespass to goods based on unjustified seizure of the material.

[66] In A Firm of Solicitors one of the issues for the New Zealand Court of Appeal was whether Serious Fraud Officers were justified in removing computer drives from a law office, cloning them for the purpose of offsite sorting of relevant material from irrelevant and then returning the originals. The clones were sealed by an independent computer expert pending resolution of privilege claims. The Court of Appeal said:

[95] While Reynolds and Bramley dealt with different statutory provisions, we do not find the reason given in Bramley for distinguishing Reynolds particularly convincing. To the extent that the existence of a "quick and effective remedy" may be relevant, it could be argued that, at least in so far as privilege is concerned, there is a quick procedure in the SFO Act in s 24(5) for the resolution of disputes relating to privilege, which could be seen

²³ R v Chesterfield Justices, ex p Bramley [2000] QB 576; at 588.

as having some features in common with that applying under the Forgery Act which applied in the *Reynolds* case. However, s 24(5) does not deal with the problem which would arise where the material seized includes irrelevant material.

- [96] If the approach taken by the majority in *Bramley* were followed in this case, it could be argued that an SFO officer executing a search warrant issued under s 12 could never remove from the searched premises a computer hard drive containing data other than data which was relevant to the investigation, or privileged material. Nor would cloning of such a computer hard drive on site, followed by removal of the clone, ever be permitted. We do not consider that to be the law in New Zealand, at least in the context of the SFO Act. We did not hear argument about the position applying to searches made under other New Zealand statutes and express no view on those other statutory provisions.
- [97] To the extent that the judgment of the majority in *Bramley* and the judgment of Slade LJ in *Reynolds* conflict, we prefer the latter. The approach suggested by Slade LJ in *Reynolds* represents a reasonable balance between the competing interests of respect for privacy rights and effective law enforcement in cases involving large amounts of documentary material or computer data.
- [67] Mr Ruffin submits that cases such as A Firm of Solicitors should be limited to their particular facts, and submits it is significant that they were cases concerned with the protection of legal privilege. I do not consider the principles described there should be so limited in their application. Ultimately what was at issue in that case, and what is at issue here, is the scope of statutory authority to search and seize. The Court in A Firm of Solicitors expressly addressed itself to the issue of non-privileged but irrelevant material in [95], because the statute under investigation provided the statutory scheme to deal with privileged material. I also note that Reynolds, the reasoning of which was adopted by the Court of Appeal, was a case concerned with a search of the plaintiff's home.
- [68] Assuming then that the Police were operating under a valid warrant, what were the Police entitled to do in this case? They were required to conduct a preliminary sorting exercise at the premises, as the warrants could not authorise an officer to removed from the premises indiscriminately all documents and records. In this case the Police faced the additional difficulty that they were not the investigating officers and had limited knowledge of the operation. Although this is not a point taken by the plaintiffs (and therefore is not a point which I attach weight to in this judgment) the Police would have had limited ability to do this sorting. Given the

state of knowledge of the Police, it would have been a proper approach for them to involve officers from the FBI in this exercise. Section 46(1) authorises the use by police of "such assistants as may be reasonable in the circumstances for the purpose of the entry and search". Because the assistants would have been foreign law enforcement officials it may have been prudent to have them as named assistants in the warrants authorising the search.

[69] Providing the Police act reasonably in so doing, following the initial sorting exercise, they were then entitled to remove from the premises those things which at the time they reasonably believed contained material which might be of evidential value. This included the digital storage devices enclosed within computers and other electronic devices. Any necessary offsite sorting process in relation to those items removed should then have been carried out promptly and those items which were not found to fall within either of the two categories identified in the warrant should then have been returned promptly to the owner.

[70] The ability to search computer hard drives onsite is of course limited, given the need to preserve the integrity of the contents through the search process. It would have been reasonable for the Police to take the hard drives offsite and clone them. Either the original or the cloned hard drive should then have been returned to the owner (depending upon whether there was any evidential value in the hard drive for which the clone is not an adequate substitute).²⁴ This approach was necessary because there was no legal basis upon which the Police were entitled to retain material which did not fall within the two categories in s 44(1). It would have been necessary to have the assistance of the FBI in this exercise.

[71] As to what could be retained following this process, the word "evidence" in ss 44 and 46 must be considered, in context, to have a wider meaning than its usual meaning when used in court proceedings. Its meaning in comparable provisions in the equivalent United Kingdom legislation (the Criminal Justice (International Co-

This would of course also be subject to the proviso that material which would enable further offending should not be returned. This might be the case in relation to unlawful material which is found on the hard drive.

operation act 1990) was discussed by the English Court of Appeal in Regina v Secretary of State for the Home Department and Others Ex Parte Fininvest S.p.A and Others, as follows:²⁵

When, therefore, one is speaking of 'evidence' in the context of a criminal investigation, the permissible areas of search must inevitably be wider than once that investigation is complete and the prosecution's concern is rather to prove an already investigated and "instituted offence".

[72] I would add to that, to fall within s 44(1)(a) or (b) the item must at least be relevant to the investigation. If not that, then there is no meaningful limit to what can be seized. This construction is consistent with the fact that the trigger for the authorisation for a search warrant under s 43 is the Attorney-General's satisfaction that there are reasonable grounds for believing that an article or thing relevant to the foreign country's criminal proceeding is located in New Zealand.

The Ex Parte Fininvest case is an example of the type of approach that could [73] have been employed by the Police in this case to both meet the operational difficulties they faced and comply with the domestic statutory framework. In Fininvest the applicants for judicial review were alleged by Italian authorities to be involved in a very large scale fraud. A request for assistance was received from the Italians, sent under the provisions of the United Kingdom Criminal Justice (International Co-operation) Act 1990. The request was that a search be undertaken for specified documents. A search warrant was duly obtained. Named Italian investigators were permitted to accompany any police constable executing the warrant so they could advise whether documents fell within the terms of the warrant. Documents were removed from the search site and examined, in the United Kingdom, by the Italian authorities to determine which were relevant and which were required for transmission to Italy. Some were returned to the applicants. Some were sent to the Home Secretary. None were transmitted to Italy pending the hearing of the application for judicial review.

Regina v Secretary of State for the Home Department and Others Ex Parte Fininvest S.p.A and Others [1997] 1 WLR 743 at 752.

[74] One of the grounds of judicial review in the proceeding was that the warrant was impermissibly wide, and amounted to a fishing expedition. In finding the warrant valid Simon Brown LJ said:²⁶

In short, the request for assistance here is not, as the applicants contend, vague and speculative; rather it is as precise and focused as such a request could sensibly be in these circumstances. It is impossible to know just what documents are both in London and relevant. To discover that, it is necessary to find, examine and appraise them. Given, however, that these are the type of documents invariably germane to any major company fraud investigation, it is highly likely that many will be relevant. And in so far as any of the documents seized prove not to be, they will not be transmitted to Italy.

[75] The Police here could have had the assistance of the FBI in the initial execution of the warrants. In any event they should have moved promptly through the offsite process permissible when dealing with large quantities of material. The purpose of that sorting is to extract the relevant from the irrelevant, and it seems to me inevitable that the FBI should have been able to assist with that.

[76] Under the provisions of MACMA the United States Central Authority is not entitled to irrelevant material seized during the search. Although Mr Song says the FBI wishes to keep all material against the possibility that some new issues will emerge, issues of relevance must be determined at the time of the search and offsite sorting process. There is no construction of s 46 which would permit the seizure of material which is irrelevant at the time of search against the possibility it subsequently becomes relevant.

[77] To conclude, the warrants were expressed to authorise the search for and seizure of very broad categories of items. These categories of items were defined in such a way that they would inevitably capture both relevant and irrelevant material. The Police acted on this authorisation. The warrants could not authorise seizure of irrelevant material, and are therefore invalid.

²⁶ At 753.

(v) Should conditions have been imposed?

[78] Mr Davison argued that the warrants should have contained conditions to deal with the issue of irrelevant material. Mr Ruffin argues that it is only in situations involving significant issues of legal privilege that conditions should be imposed. He refers to *Gill* as supporting the proposition that conditions should not readily be attached to warrants.

[79] I do not consider that Gill stands as authority for the proposition that Courts should be reluctant to impose conditions on warrants. The passage in Gill which Mr Ruffin relies upon is one in which the Court of Appeal refers with approval to an earlier decision of that Court in Television New Zealand Ltd v Attorney General. In Television New Zealand the Court of Appeal expressed the need for care in expressing principles applicable to warrants so as not to constrain the necessary discretion of the issuing Judge. In the course of reviewing the issue of the warrant, the first instance Judge had attempted to formulate detailed guidelines for the issue of warrants in relation to media organisations, including a set of standard conditions. On appeal, the Court emphasised that cases vary greatly and that it was inappropriate to go further than identifying general principles to be borne in mind when the reasonableness of granting or executing a warrant was under consideration. The comment relating to the imposition of conditions set out in Gill was in response to the suggestion that warrants in connection with media organisations should have, as a matter of course, special conditions attaching. The Court went no further than saying that conditions may be imposed but that they will not be the norm.

[80] Section 45(3) contemplates that special conditions may be imposed in relation to MACMA warrants. It creates a discretion that is to be exercised in the particular circumstances of the case.

[81] In this case I acknowledge that it is a rather academic exercise to consider whether conditions should have been imposed, given the finding that the warrants

²⁷ Television New Zealand Limited v Attorney-General [1995] 2 NZLR 641 (CA).

were invalid. But since the issue may be relevant to the grant of relief, I will address it. If the warrants had been adequately specific as to offence and scope of authorised search, it may have been appropriate to impose conditions because those conditions could have addressed just how the offsite sorting exercise was to be undertaken. In considering whether to impose conditions it was relevant for the Judge in this case to weigh the inevitability of an offsite sorting exercise, the likely size of that exercise, and the requirements for cloning the content of the digital storage devices. It was also relevant that there was no information provided in the warrant applications as to when or where the sorting exercise was to take place, or who was to do it. Finally, it was relevant that there was information available to the Judge (although this information was not prominent in the material presented in support of the application) that the Police intended to deliver the items seized to the FBI in the United States.

[82] To achieve an appropriate balance between the investigative needs of the FBI and the right of the plaintiffs to be free from unreasonable search and seizure of their property and correspondence, it may well have been appropriate to impose conditions. The failure to do so meant that the subjects of the warrants were left unsure of their rights in relation to the material taken offsite, and also risked irrelevant material being released to the FBI, beyond the jurisdiction of the New Zealand Courts to order its return.

[83] As to the nature of appropriate conditions, in *A Firm of Solicitors*, a case involving as its name suggests, the search of a firm of solicitors, the Court of Appeal said:²⁸

... conditions attaching to Anton Piller orders made in the civil jurisdiction of the High Court may provide some guidance, though there would obviously need to be adaptations to suit the circumstances of the case. It would be necessary to ensure that the cloning exercise, and the subsequent extraction of evidential material, was undertaken by an appropriately qualified and independent expert. It may be that the process should be supervised by the issuing Judge or a person appointed by the issuing Judge for the purpose.

²⁸ At [108].

- [84] In this case, however, there is no evidence of significant volumes of privileged material and any conditions needed to reflect the concerns they were intended to address. In any search privileged material may fall within the net. But when a search of a legal office is contemplated, it is a concern that should be at front of mind for the Police and the issuing officer. There is considerable expense involved in some of the procedures contemplated by the Anton Piller procedures. I consider that a less onerous set of conditions would have been appropriate where privileged material was not of particular concern. The conditions should have provided for the cloning exercise and extraction of relevant material, what was to be done with irrelevant material, and whether the plaintiffs were to have returned to them the original hard drives returned, or clones.
- [85] As is plain from my earlier comments I also do not consider that the conditions needed to keep from the FBI the content of the hard drives. Indeed, to enable the MACMA regime to achieve its purposes, it seems inevitable that in complex cases the investigating authorities must be engaged in the sorting exercise, which proper execution of the warrant requires.
- [86] To conclude on this issue, if the warrants had been adequately specific as to offence and scope of search, it may still have been appropriate for the issuing Judge to impose conditions to address the offsite sorting process that was inevitable in this case. The conditions could have provided for the cloning of hard drives, the extraction of relevant material and the return to the plaintiffs of the original hard drives, or their clones.

B. Did the Police seize items outside the scope of the search warrant?

[87] I have held that the warrants were invalid because they were general warrants lacking adequate specificity as to the offence and to the scope of the items to be searched for. Moreover, the warrant authorised the seizure of items falling outside the parameters of s 44(1). Search and seizure pursuant to an invalid warrant involves the Police in a trespass and unauthorised seizure of property.

[88] If I am wrong that the warrants were invalid, then it is nevertheless clear that the Police, in executing the warrants, have exceeded what they could lawfully be authorised to do. This is because they continue to hold, along with the relevant, material they concede will be irrelevant. They have taken few steps to identify that material, and no steps where the material resides on the computer hard drives. The Police say they have no intention of sorting the evidence or potential evidence, from the irrelevant. They intend to allow the FBI to do that in the United States. That is an approach that is not available to them. Section 46 of the MACMA only authorises seizure of items referred to in s 44(1), and it is only things seized under s 44(1) that are amenable to a s 49(2) direction that the items be sent to a foreign investigating authority.

[89] No one addressed the issue of whether the Police conduct also amounted to an unreasonable search and seizure. My preliminary view is that it did, but as I have not heard counsel on this, I make no finding at this point. If the issue requires to be dealt with, it can be dealt with when I hear the parties in relation to relief.

C. Was the provision by the Police of copies of digital files to the FBI unlawful?

[90] During the course of the first hearing of this application for review, it emerged that hard drives had been imaged and shipped by the FBI to the United States. The plaintiffs say the shipment of those images was unlawful because it was contrary to the Solicitor-General's direction given under s 49(2) on 16 February 2012 that any items seized were to remain in the custody and control of the Commissioner of Police until further direction.

[91] Section 49 of the MACMA provides:

49 Custody and disposal of things seized

- (1) Where any member of the Police seizes any thing pursuant to a warrant issued under section 44 of this Act, that member of the Police shall deliver the thing into the custody of the Commissioner of Police.
- (2) Where a thing is delivered into the custody of the Commissioner of Police under subsection (1) of this section, the Commissioner of Police shall arrange for the thing to be kept for a period not exceeding

- 1 month from the day on which the thing was seized pending a direction in writing from the Attorney-General as to the manner in which the thing is to be dealt with (which may include a direction that the thing be sent to an appropriate authority of a foreign country).
- (3) Where, before the expiry of the period referred to in subsection (2) of this section, the Attorney-General gives a direction in respect of the thing, the thing shall be dealt with in accordance with the direction.
- (4) If no direction is given by the Attorney-General before the expiry of the period referred to in subsection (2) of this section, the Commissioner of Police shall arrange for the thing to be returned to the person from whose possession it was seized as soon as practicable after that period has expired.

[92] It is common ground that there was no document directing the release of images, signed by the Attorney-General, the Solicitor-General or the Solicitor-General's delegate, and that, at the time the images were sent to the United States, the s 49(2) direction which applied was that of 16 February. Mr Pike for the New Zealand Central Authority argues that s 49(2) is only concerned with physical custody, and, notwithstanding the provision of copies, as the originals remained in the physical custody of the Police, no direction under s 49(2) was required to allow shipment. Alternatively, he argues that any unlawfulness involved was of a technical nature because the plaintiffs had consented to the release of images to the FBI and, in any event, the Deputy Solicitor General would have directed the provision of the images if he had been asked to.

(i) Does s 49 regulate physical custody of an item only?

[93] Mr Pike's essential submission for the Central Authority is that neither the language nor the context of s 49 support the argument that all dealings with seized items held by the Commissioner, even those that do not affect legal custody of the original items seized, must be supported by a s 49 "direction". Things seized are kept by the Commissioner pending a written direction. Once a written direction (of the sort dated 16 February 2012) is issued, the things are no longer kept pending direction but rather kept pursuant to the direction issued. That in itself, Mr Pike submits, tells against the construction that access to or other actions relating to the seized things not affecting their physical custody, or their status as items seized pursuant to the MACMA, requires a s 49 "direction".

[94] An interpretation of s 49 that required a direction to authorise each and every dealing with an exhibit whilst it is in the custody of the Commissioner of Police would be inconsistent with the purpose of the MACMA legislation. In executing a search warrant obtained pursuant to a MACMA request, the Police are likely to have to allow foreign law enforcement agencies access to items seized. Consequently, custody is to be given a broad and liberal meaning: if an item seized remains under the control of the Police, it is within their custody.²⁹ Whether a s 49 direction is required when it is proposed to send to law enforcement agencies overseas an exact replica of the items is a rather more difficult question. The original physical item seized remains in the possession of the Police. However, once a clone of a hard drive is sent offshore, the Police have lost the ability to control what is done with information stored on that hard drive. The same may also be true of copies of the documents involved. The wording of the legislation does not address how replicas (effectively identical twins of the item) fit within this regime.

[95] Fortunately in this case this is not an issue that I have to decide, because a direction under s 49(2) was made. The Commissioner of Police was directed to keep the items in his custody and control. Mr Pike suggested the inclusion of the word "control" in that direction was simply a case of lawyers including a boiler plate type provision and that it could be disregarded. While the basis upon which it would be appropriate to ignore the words of the direction is unclear, it seems in any case that there was some intent behind the particular words used. Ms Madeline Laracy, a solicitor with Crown Law, has filed an affidavit in opposition to the application for review dated 25 May 2012. In that affidavit she says there were two reasons why the Solicitor-General did not direct the items seized be sent offshore immediately. The first was that the Police and Crown Law, representing the Central Authority, were concerned to ensure that there was a register which clearly identified every single item and every document. The second was notification of the proposed filing of judicial review proceedings by Mr Dotcom to challenge the warrant and prevent the computer items leaving the country before arrangements had been made which were satisfactory to preserve the applicant's ability to access data. It is apparent from the

²⁹ Rural Timber Ltd v Hughes [1989] 3 NZLR 178 (CA) at 186.

correspondence on the file that the plaintiffs' were also concerned from an early stage that irrelevant items had been seized. Therefore both challenges as to the legality of the warrants and to the extent of items seized required some resolution.

[96] The hard drives seized contain information in the form of digital files. Those files are part of the relevant hard drive. The information is the property of the plaintiffs, just as much as the private papers were the property of the plaintiff in *Entick v Carrington*. Once clones of the digital files were shipped offshore, the Police no longer had control over what was done with them. They could not, for instance, compel their return, nor prevent the FBI dealing with them as it chose, even if it was subsequently determined that there was any invalidity affecting the warrant, or that items outside the scope of s 46(1)(d) had been seized. The direction that the items remain under the custody *and control* of the Commissioner during the 'sorting out' period was therefore a sensible one. It gave time for some sort of resolution of the various issues to be worked out with the plaintiffs, or time for those issues to be determined by the Courts. The failure to observe the direction, by permitting or allowing the shipments, may have involved an irrevocable seizure of material.

[97] To conclude on this issue, the release of the cloned hard drives to the FBI for shipping to the United States was contrary to the 16 February direction given under s 49(2) of the MACMA that the items seized were to remain in the custody and control of the Commissioner of Police. This dealing with the cloned hard drives was therefore in breach of s 49(3) of the MACMA.

(ii) Did the plaintiffs consent to images of computer hard drives being shipped to the FBI offshore?

[98] Extensive affidavit material has been filed in relation to this aspect of the hearing. Most of that affidavit evidence relates to discussions between Crown counsel (who were at the time representing the New Zealand Central Authority), plaintiffs' counsel and the Police concerning the cloning of the hard drives with a view to providing those copies to the FBI and to the plaintiffs.

[99] Mr Pike explained in submissions that this affidavit material was produced because it was understood that allegations of serious misconduct on the part of the Crown had been raised and that as a consequence the Court had directed the filing of evidence. I had not however, directed the filing of evidence. During the first phase of the hearing, in response to a question from me, Mr Ruffin said that images of computer files had been taken by the FBI and sent to the United States of America. Both Mr Davison and Mr Foley expressed surprise at that; Mr Davison noting that an application for interim relief in the present proceedings had been resolved on the basis that all items continued to be held pursuant to the s 49(2) direction of 16 February. I asked Mr Ruffin for clarification and he sought leave to file affidavits from those who had been involved at that earlier stage (including counsel and police). That leave was granted.

[100] At the hearing on 6 June, counsel for the plaintiffs confirmed that, while no allegation of bad-faith was made, it was contended on the plaintiffs' behalf that the transfer of the material offshore had been unlawful, the plaintiffs had not consented to it, and that the plaintiffs had been misled in these present proceedings. The latter because the plaintiffs had withdrawn their applications for interim relief on Mr Ruffin's assurance that the material seized by Police would continue to be held in accordance with the s 49(2) direction of 16 February and that the direction preserved the status quo.

[101] Having reviewed the chronology of events as revealed through the affidavits of the participants and correspondence in Court documents, three phases in the dealings between the parties emerge. The first phase, immediately following the search and seizure, continued through until early March. During that phase, Crown Law negotiated with the plaintiffs with a view to obtaining agreement upon a basis on which all original items could be shipped to the FBI and the Crown could be provided with passwords which would enable the FBI to access the encrypted files.

[102] The second phase of the dealings was one in which it became apparent that no resolution of these wider issues would be able to be reached. During this phase the Crown attempted to settle a basis upon which the Crown could nevertheless

despatch original items to the FBI, setting aside only those in respect of which there was dispute.

[103] During the final phase, which overlapped significantly with the second phase, the plaintiffs' placed before the Court the issues, in one form or another, as to the status of the items seized, and what was to be done with them. Images of the hard drives were sent to the FBI in the United States.

First phase: Initial attempts at a negotiated resolution as to the status of the items:

[104] Dealings between the various parties in relation to the items seized began as early as 9 February 2012. They commenced with a letter from Mr Davison to Ms Toohey seeking the urgent return of Mr Dotcom's computer and hard drives to enable him to prepare his case in opposition to any extradition proceedings, and suggesting that the files be cloned in short order. On 10 February 2012, Mr Davison sent a further letter noting the volume of material that had been seized by the Police and the fact that no detailed schedule had yet been provided. He wanted to ensure -

... that none of the items seized by the New Zealand Police are sent out of New Zealand or delivered into the custody or possession of representatives of the US Government unless and until Mr Dotcom has had an opportunity of obtaining and being provided with copies of documents or has his computers returned following the electronic copying (cloning) being undertaken with a view to the US Government retaining such clones as evidence as to the contents of seized computers.

[105] Written assurance was sought that none of the items seized by the Police would be provided to the US Government without proper and adequate notice being provided so that Mr Davison could apply to the Court for an order as to the appropriate disposition or retention of the items.

[106] By letter dated 14 February, Mr Davison wrote again to Ms Toohey advising that, in the absence of any satisfactory arrangements as to the status of the exhibits, his client would apply for judicial review challenging the issue of the search warrant and would also apply for an interim order restraining the Crown and the Police from delivering or giving possession to the US Government of all and any of the search items seized by the Police.

[107] The day after the 16 February direction under s 49(2), Mr Foley wrote to Ms Toohey saying that he had instructions to consider whether to challenge the basis upon which the warrants had been obtained. He said until he had received and had a reasonable opportunity to peruse relevant disclosure in relation to the matter, no material or information should be passed over to the US Government or any other government agency or persons. He recorded his expectation that, as part of the investigation, the Police had sought assistance in imaging/cloning various electronic devices and contained data and asked for advice on how long it would take.

[108] Although there was some intervening toing and froing between the parties, the next significant event in the chronology is a letter from Ms Laracy, Crown counsel, to Mr Davison dated 24 February 2012. In that letter Ms Laracy said that although the evidence was required to be sent to the United States in its original form, that had not yet happened and would not happen without advising the plaintiffs first. She proposed that the Attorney-General direct that all original computer items and other exhibits be sent to the United States in order to effect the purpose of the mutual assistance required. In relation to Mr Dotcom's laptop and his two external hard drives, she proposed that they be promptly cloned and the clones provided to Mr Dotcom. The New Zealand or United States authorities were prepared to bear the cost of that in relation to those specific items in order to reach a position which reasonably satisfied competing interests and to achieve an expeditious resolution of the issues. She said that if Mr Davison was not agreeable to the process, the Crown would urgently seek a directions hearing in the District Court.

[109] She said that it was not proposed to return the original hardware to Mr Dotcom as the United States investigators required to examine that in its original form. United States experts and investigators needed to work in their own laboratory environment to analyse and clone the computer items so that they could be assessed in the same conditions, according to the same processes and standards, and by the same investigators as other computer items relating to the Megastuff conspiracies seized in other locations around the world. She said:

In short, it is not possible in the context of an investigation of this nature for computer items to be cloned in New Zealand and the clones alone sent to the United States. Further, it is not feasible or appropriate for the computer

items to be cloned in New Zealand first and the clones retained. That would unduly impede the United States investigation. It would also put an unreasonable burden on the New Zealand authorities.

[110] She noted Mr Dotcom's intention to file a judicial review of the search warrant by which the computer items and other exhibits were obtained, and said:

We do not see that that indication should impede the items being sent to the United States. We believe the United States may be willing to provide an undertaking regarding prompt return of items if the New Zealand search were ultimately held by our Courts to be an unreasonable search and seizure.

[111] Mr Davison responded by letter dated 29 February 2012. He said that there was an issue as to whether all of the "computer items" seized from Mr Dotcom's property were within the ambit of the items that could be legitimately seized and removed pursuant to the search warrants. He provided examples. He continued:

Accordingly, before any final decision is made relating to the handover of any computer items to the US Government, there will need to be a detailed schedule prepared identifying each and every item that was to be handed over to the US Government representatives ...

[112] He thanked Ms Laracy for her advice that no items had been provided to, or sent to the United States and that she would not make any such arrangements without first advising Mr Davison on behalf of Mr Dotcom. He said:

Given your indication that you will "urgently seek a directions hearing from the District Court" to determine any issue of disagreement between us, I take it that no items whatsoever will be transferred to or handed over to the US Government or its representatives in the absence of either agreement being reached between us that that is an appropriate course or an order of the Court authorising and approving the handing over of such items to the US Government or its representatives.

He asked for confirmation that his understanding was correct.

[113] Discussions continued between Mr Davison, Mr Foley, Ms Laracy and Ms Toohey in relation to the possibility of cloning some items for the purpose of disclosure to the defence. On 6 March 2012, Ms Laracy emailed Mr Foley and Mr Davison making a 'without prejudice' offer to expedite the issues between the parties in relation to the status of the various items seized. She confirmed again that no items of evidence had left New Zealand and that the Crown would advise the

plaintiffs if it was planned that any would. She said, in relation to the few specific computer items sought by the defence, if they could be cloned or copied safely in New Zealand without compromising the integrity of the originals, the Police might be prepared to use the ECL in New Zealand for that purpose. Once those items were copied and once the plaintiffs had the opportunity to check the copies and establish that they were accurate and readable, those and all other computer items in their original form would be sent directly to the United States. All hard copy documents seized would be scanned by the Police onto disc and the disc sent to the United States with hard copies remaining in New Zealand.

[114] Correspondence then ensued, both by email and by letter, about the exact terms such an agreement might contain and as to the methodology to be employed for cloning. On 7 March, Mr Davison proposed that the Crown prepare a draft undertaking for his consideration. On 13 March 2012, Ms Laracy provided a draft "evidence transfer proposal." The first paragraph of that proposal recorded that no items obtained under the search warrants production orders were to leave New Zealand or to be transferred into the control of the US authorities until the "specific items" had been imaged and readable copies had been acknowledged as received by the respondents. The 'specific items' were listed and were items the plaintiffs had requested copies of.

[115] The second paragraph recorded that originals rather than copies of the items seized other than hard copy documentary items, were to be transferred to the US authorities pursuant to the Mutual Assistance request. The specific items would be imaged by an FBI forensic expert who may use the premises of the Electronic Crime Laboratory in Auckland for that purpose. It also provided that any passwords and information necessary for the FBI expert to properly access the specific items would be provided by the relevant plaintiff to Detective Sergeant Nigel McMorran in advance of the imaging. On receipt of the copies, the plaintiffs would have up to five working days from collection of the images of specific items to advise the Crown Law Office in writing that they had received acceptable images of the content of the specific items. After expiry of that period, the transfer of all evidential items might occur.

[116] The draft agreement then recorded that, notwithstanding the previous provisions,

... any items in respect of which there is a live dispute as to whether they fall within the scope of the search warrant will be set aside for further consideration and not transferred to US custody or control until that matter has been resolved by the parties or by a court. Any other exhibits may, however, be transferred to the US Authorities pursuant to the agreement.

[117] On 15 March 2012, Mr Davison wrote to Ms Laracy saying that some items had already been identified as being allegedly outside the scope of the warrant. He said that he proposed to review the updated police exhibit schedule with a view to identifying any further items which Mr Dotcom contended were outside the ambit of the search warrant or which would be readily recognisable as being of no evidential value. He enclosed an amended agreement which included a new clause 12 which, if accepted, would impose upon the New Zealand authorities an obligation to clone all electronic data before handing either the originals or the cloned copies to the US authorities.

Second phase: No agreement

[118] On 16 March, Ms Toohey emailed Mr Davison and Mr Foley to say that the amended agreement was not acceptable to the United States because of the size of the imaging task proposed. She acknowledged however, that it was not possible to estimate the size of the task until the FBI had had an opportunity to preview the contents of the electronic items. She suggested, as an interim arrangement, that two FBI investigators would come to New Zealand to prepare two sets of the 17 specified items. They would take one set back to the United States and leave a second set in New Zealand pending resolution. She said agreement on terms remained possible, and asked for further detail of the "live dispute" items.

[119] On 16 March, Mr Davison replied by letter saying he was taking further instructions in respect of the "live dispute" items. He said:

...pending the receipt of further instructions from Mr Dotcom as to what additional "live dispute" items he contends should be added to the existing list and pending the analysis of the materials to be undertaken by the FBI forensic agents, it would appear premature for either party to take a final

position. Notwithstanding, there is utility and good sense to the proposed action of the preparation of two sets of the 17 specified items.

[120] It seems the FBI agents arrived in New Zealand on 18 March. On 21 March 2012, Ms Laracy and Ms Toohey wrote to Mr Davison recording that no agreement had been reached as to the imaging of the specific items and transfer of all items. They recorded that the FBI agents were in New Zealand, and that:

They will make two images of the original 17 "specific items". The FBI will return to the United States after the imaging, transferring the originals of the specific items at the same time. You will also receive the images of these items at that time. A possible exception to this is the CCTV content which needs to be imaged and assessed by the Police after imaging.

[121] Further on in the letter they said:

We also propose to send the originals of all other computer/digital items to the United States. In the absence of clear idea of categories of information that your client contends is relevant from the items seized under warrant, it is unreasonable to prevent their transfer to the United States. We would like to give you an opportunity to respond in writing on this issue, setting out also the law you rely on, so that your position can be further assessed. We would need to have your response by 4.00 pm on Tuesday, 27 March 2012. If necessary, we intend to seek directions from the Court. This would have to happen urgently.

Third phase: Status of items seized raised in District Court:

[122] Later that same day, Mr Foley emailed the Court, and served upon Crown counsel a copy of a memorandum for the District Court in advance of a telephone conference to be held on 22 March. In that memorandum he addressed a number of issues including status of the various items seized and the validity of the warrant. In relation to the imaging of items seized, his memorandum included the following:

- (a) New Zealand imaging should be undertaken forthwith and working duplicate copies of those images provided to the respondents without delay to allow a check to be made as to whether the image appears to be in working order;
 - (b) No device, nor copy of same, should leave New Zealand until the respondents have had reasonable time to review images provided;
 - (c) Working images of the balance of all digital items seized to be provided to the respondents no later than 28 April 2012.

[123] Following the conference on 22 March 2012 the Judge issued a minute recording discussion as to the need for imaging in New Zealand of the information contained on the computers. The Judge went on to schedule a hearing in relation to several issues which included:

To consider whether or not directions should be made regarding the imaging of computers seized in the search and [if] so what those directions should be.

[124] Later that same day Mr Davison wrote to Ms Toohey and Ms Laracy. In the letter he referred to a telephone conversation with Ms Toohey in which he had sought written confirmation that, notwithstanding the terms and contents of the letter of 21 March 2012, having regard to the matters traversed before Judge Harvey, and the intended Court hearing, in the absence of any agreement no items seized would be transferred or delivered to the US government and its agents for removal from New Zealand and transfer to the United States pending determination of the issues by the Court. He noted previous discussions and negotiations were directed at the imaging/cloning of specific items, which process would then be followed by an opportunity for his client to be satisfied that the images provided in relation to his own specified items was fully readable by him before the hardware items were transferred or passed to the US Government representatives for removal from New Zealand. In the new proposal, no such opportunity was proposed. He said that, provided it was possible to get back to an arrangement whereby there was an opportunity for the verification of the readability of certain items, he anticipated no difficulty in reaching an agreement that allowed the United States government agents taking originals back with them.

[125] Ms Toohey responded by email at 5.29 pm on the afternoon of 22 March confirming that the original computer equipment would not leave New Zealand . pending the decision of the District Court. However, she continued:

FBI agents who are in New Zealand are currently making two sets of images of the specific items. They will take one set of images. The other set will be made available for disclosure. This preserves your position in terms of access to an image and, if necessary, access to the original for the time being.

She went on in her email to say that a copy of the documentary items which the defence already had would be sent to the US authorities for their assessment of

relevance to the investigation. She apologised for the informality of the email but said that she was on leave from the next day and had little time to respond.

[126] Mr Davison did not respond to this email, but Mr Foley did. On 23 March 2012, he sent an email, copied to Mr Davison, to Ms Laracy and Ms Toohey. I set the detail of that out in full:

Thank you for your email, below.

Images

Might you provide copies of images as they become available to allow any checking at our end to proceed without delay?

Documentary items

In my view the police are required to ensure that only items properly seized pursuant to the MACMA warrant are ultimately made available to the US.

I am told a number of items were seized/obtained by the police likely fall outside the warrant or other statutory powers of seizure. Those items should not be provided to the US, or anyone else. They should be returned at an appropriate time.

My indication during His Honour's telephone conference yesterday followed my memorandum for that conference (further copy attached) — that NZ authorities should go through the material to sort out what might be properly given up and what should not.

I do object to the US receiving this material before the items are checked.

As earlier indicated I would wish to take instructions as to the final list of items to be released, and am available to work co-operatively on this issue once the initial sorting exercise is complete.

Please confirm your agreement, and advise whether or not material has already been provided to US authorities. If so would you please identify the material, date of release, and to whom release was made?

He attached to that email a copy of the memorandum filed for the telephone conference the previous day.

[127] It is this email and Mr Davison's failure to respond to Ms Toohey's email, that the Crown relies upon on as evidencing consent on the part of the plaintiffs to the shipment of the copies. In her affidavit filed in this proceeding Ms Laracy notes that Mr Davison did not respond to the email from Ms Toohey, and that Mr Foley, under the heading of "Images", makes no complaint about the proposed course of

action. She says that the rest of the email relates to the heading "Documentary items".

[128] Detective Sergeant McMorran's evidence is that shortly after 5.00 pm on 23 March he was told by the FBI they had arranged for "seven hard drives" to be shipped by FedEx to the United States. There is no direct evidence of what Crown Law had communicated to the Detective Sergeant as to whether the FBI could take the images, but his evidence was that "ultimately" his understanding was that the FBI could. He said he made no report of his discussion with the FBI regarding these "seven hard drives", and from the next day was on leave.

[129] At 5.06 pm on that day Ms Laracy filed a memorandum in the District Court, served on the plaintiffs' counsel, in which she recorded that the key issues for resolution were:

Duties and entitlements for New Zealand parties in respect of digital/computer items seized under the MACMA warrants for transfer to, and examination by, the United States authorities; ...

[130] At 5.46 pm on 23 March Ms Laracy responded to Mr Foley's email confirming that no items of evidence had left New Zealand and setting out an email from Detective Sergeant McMorran. In his email Detective Sergeant McMorran concludes:

The FBI are going to be working through the weekend to get all this completed and hope to have everything finalised by next Thursday and are booked to leave New Zealand on the 31st March. Prior to leaving they will run the copies to ensure they can be read and then once satisfied they will return a copy and the original to ECL who in turn will hand them back to OFCANZ for storage pending the outcome of the hearing on the 2nd-3rd April or directed otherwise by the Crown.

[131] Although Ms Laracy's email, and its enclosure, created a misleading picture as to the status of the evidence, I accept that timing delays explain the inaccuracy of the information she conveyed.

[132] The next relevant step in the chronology is the filing of an application for orders relating to items seized under the MACMA warrant. This was filed by

Mr Foley on 26 March 2012, and picks up the text of the original memorandum filed by Mr Foley. The first order he sought was as follows:

That in relation to seizure under warrant or otherwise of files or items containing, or capable of containing electronically stored information:

- (a) Imaging of those devices is to be undertaken forthwith and working duplicate copies of those images provided to the applicants without delay to allow checks to be made as to whether the image appears to be in working order;
- (b) That no device, nor copy of the same, is to leave New Zealand until the applicants have had a reasonable time to review images provided and have confirmed and responded in writing that they are able to use the images;
- (c) That the respondent obtain an undertaking from the US authorities that working images of the balance of all digital items seized are to be provided to the applicants no later than 28 April 2012.

[133] It was after this application was filed that the second instalment of images was shipped by the FBI to the United States (on 28 March). There is no evidence as to the circumstances of this shipment. Detective Sergeant McMorran was away on leave by this time. Detective Inspector Wormald does not seem to have been directly involved in any dealings with the FBI in relation to this second shipment.

Was there consent?

[134] It is difficult to construe this sequence of events as evidencing the plaintiffs' agreement to images of the hard drives being released to the FBI. Earlier on the day Ms Toohey sent the email (22 March) on which the Crown relies, Mr Foley, for his clients had raised the status of the items seized, (including copies of those items), as an issue that required resolution by the Court and a hearing date had been set. Mr Davison followed that conference up with both a telephone call and letter in which he requested written confirmation from the Crown that no items seized would be transferred.

[135] Ms Toohey did not provide that written confirmation but rather stated the FBI's intention to take one set of copies, and make one available for disclosure. However, she provided no time frame as to when the FBI would "take" the imaged copies and interest was nothing to indicate it would be the next day. But

Ms Laracy's and Ms Toohey's letter of the previous day proposed that the plaintiffs had until 4.00 pm on Tuesday 27 March 2012 to identify "live dispute" items, those items the plaintiffs disputed fell within the terms of the warrant. This timing was consistent with Detective Sergeant McMorran's statement that the FBI were leaving on 31 March. Given this context, the plaintiffs would not likely have understood the 22 March email as imposing a 24 hour deadline. Indeed it seems that the Police and the Crown also did not expect the clones to be shipped the next day.

[136] As to Mr Foley's response I accept that there is some ambiguity in the setting out of his email, but the most obvious reading of it is not that proposed by Ms Laracy. The email is more sensibly read as containing preliminary comments in relation to both "images" and "documentary items", and then going on to address matters of general process affecting all items seized. This is particularly so when the email is read along with the memorandum it attached.

[137] The fundamental objection to construing what occurred as consent however is that the plaintiffs had by that time squarely placed the status of the items seized, including copies of those items, before the Court. In these circumstances the Crown could not reasonably proceed on the basis that the plaintiffs consented without obtaining their express consent. Silence was not enough (though of course, Mr Foley was not silent). At best the correspondence was ambiguous and given that a hearing date had been allocated for resolution of issues in relation to the status of the items, the Crown needed to proceed with considerable caution to ensure that it did have the plaintiffs' consent, if, indeed it was seeking it.

[138] Ms Toohey, as counsel for the Central Authority has elected not to file an affidavit setting out her communications with the Police. This may cloud the picture. Nevertheless the correspondence and affidavits create a clear impression that there was confusion between the Crown and the Police, and perhaps even within the Crown team, as to what was occurring in relation to the images. This was probably contributed to by the fact that two key people, Detective Sergeant McMorran and Ms Toohey went on leave at the critical time. This may explain why the Crown did not advise the District Court Judge that images had already been shipped by the FBI to the United States. It is hard to see why, if matters proceeded as the Crown

suggests, the duplicate copies that were taken were not then made available to the plaintiffs, when that was what Ms Toohey had proposed in the email of 22 March.

[139] Finally, I mention the Crown's reliance on a telephone conversation between Detective Sergeant McMorran and Mr Davison that is described in an affidavit filed by Detective Sergeant McMorran and also recorded in a note of the telephone conversation he kept in his diary and has annexed to his affidavit. He says that he told Mr Davison that copying had taken place and that as far as he was aware some copies of specific items had been sent by the FBI to the United States and he also says that Mr Davison did not object to this. Mr Davison has chosen not to file an affidavit to describe the correspondence and exchanges or to personally respond to any of the Crown material on this issue. To do so would cause him difficulty in his representation of Mr Dotcom in terms of the professional rules of conduct. As it happens I do not attach significance to this conversation, as it is meaningless in this context to speak of consenting to that which has already happened, and in any case, Mr Davison represents only one of the plaintiffs.

[140] To conclude, I find no evidence that the plaintiffs consented to the clones being shipped to the FBI in the United States. Given the confused narrative of events that emerges from the correspondence and affidavits and the incomplete material, I do not propose to make any finding beyond that.

(iii) Would the Solicitor-General have consented to the shipment?

[141] The final submission made on behalf of the Central Authority is that the Deputy Solicitor-General (acting as the delegate of the Attorney-General) would have given a direction to the Police to allow the FBI to ship the images if he had been requested for such a direction to enable this to proceed. For this reason, any breach of s 49(2) is of a technical nature only. In this Mr Pike refers to an email dated 16 March 2012 from Ms Toohey to the United States Central Authority, the Police and others in which she says:

I have spoken to our Deputy Solicitor-General this morning in relation to your query. We think it would be acceptable for the two FBI agents to come to New Zealand, but could they do two clones, one set for the US, and one

set to leave behind for disclosure, once agreement or a litigated resolution is reached?

[142] In written submissions the Crown said that this was evidence of the Deputy Solicitor-General's consent to the clones being sent offshore. In oral submissions Mr Pike accepted that although this email was not evidence of a s 49(2) direction, it was evidence that such a direction would have been given if it was requested of the Deputy Solicitor-General.

[143] This argument has the fatal flaw that the email is dated 16 March and refers to different arrangements than those proposed in Ms Toohey's email of 22 March. Moreover it was after that date that the status of the items seized was raised with the Court, and a hearing date allocated. In that context I do not accept that the Deputy Solicitor-General, if properly informed of this background, would have directed the release to the FBI of the copies. The Crown is held to the standards of the model litigant, yet to take such an action would be to defeat at least part of the purpose of the plaintiffs' application to the District Court, and also render futile, at least part of the District Court determination.³⁰

D. Summary of findings

[144] I summarise my findings as follows:

- (a) The warrants did not adequately describe the offences to which they related. Indeed they fell well short of that. They were general warrants, and as such, are invalid.
- (b) The warrants were expressed to authorise the search for and seizure of very broad categories of items. These categories of items were defined in such a way that they would inevitably capture within them both relevant and irrelevant material. The Police acted on this authorisation. The warrants could not authorise seizure of irrelevant material, and are therefore invalid.

As it happens the application in the District Court was not proceeded with, the issues having become subsumed in this proceeding and in the application to the District Court for disclosure.

- (c) If the warrants had been adequately specific as to offence and scope of search, it may still have been appropriate for the issuing Judge to impose conditions. Conditions could have addressed the offsite sorting process, which was inevitable for the items taken away from the search sites. The conditions could have provided for the cloning of hard drives, the extraction of relevant material and the return to the plaintiffs of the original hard drives, or their clones.
- (d) The Police relied on invalid warrants when they searched the properties and seized the various items. The search and seizure was therefore illegal. If it is relevant, I will hear counsel on whether in each case this therefore amounted to an unreasonable search and seizure for the purposes of s 21 of the New Zealand Bill of Rights Act 1990.
- (e) If I am wrong that the warrants were invalid, then it is nevertheless clear that the Police, in executing the warrants, have exceeded what they could lawfully be authorised to do. This is because they continue to hold, along with the relevant, irrelevant material. The Police have adopted this approach because they have no request from the United States Central Authority to sort the relevant from the irrelevant, and in any event do not have the ability to undertake this exercise without assistance. The Police faced operational difficulties in executing these search warrants in a lawful manner because they are not the investigating officers with knowledge of the operation. The provisions of the MACMA are however sufficiently flexible to enable the Police to involve overseas investigating officers in the execution of warrants to meet this operational difficulty.
- (f) The release of the cloned hard drives to the FBI for shipping to the United States was contrary to the 16 February direction given under s 49(2) of the MACMA that the items seized were to remain in the custody and control of the Commissioner of Police. It was therefore in contravention of s 49(3) of the MACMA.

- (g) The New Zealand Central Authority argued that any breach of s 49(3) was technical because the plaintiffs consented to the shipment of the clones to the FBI in the United States. I have found that no consent was given by the plaintiffs. Given the confused narrative of events that emerges from the correspondence and affidavits and the incomplete nature of the evidence, I do not propose to make any finding beyond that.
- (h) The New Zealand Central Authority also argued that the Deputy Solicitor-General would have given a direction under s 49(2) authorising the shipment of the clones to the FBI in the United States, had he been asked. Any contravention of s 49(3) was therefore technical. I do not accept that the Deputy Solicitor-General would have given such a direction, if informed that the status of all items seized, including copies of those items, was the subject of an application by the plaintiffs to the District Court.

Relief

[145] The substantive relief sought by the plaintiffs is as follows:

- a. An order by way of declaration that the MACMA search warrants were unlawful;
- b. An order by way of declaration that the removal of clones from New Zealand was contrary to the Solicitor-General's direction to the Commissioner of Police dated 16 February 2012, was not authorised in accordance with s 49 of MACMA and was accordingly unlawful;
- c. An order that none of the items seized nor clones or copies thereof remaining in New Zealand, be permitted to leave New Zealand or be accessed in any way other than in accordance with the process set out in below, subject to further order of the Court;

- d. An order that the first defendant forthwith provide the plaintiffs with the clones of seized items currently held by the New Zealand Police (the existing clones);
- e. An order requiring the first defendant to provide confirmation in writing to the plaintiffs identifying those items, the clones of which have been removed from New Zealand, and confirming whether or not the existing clones are effectively duplicates of the clones removed from New Zealand.
- f. An order providing for the following process:
 - i. The appointment of an independent and appropriately experienced barrister or barrister and solicitor of the High Court of New Zealand (the independent practitioner) to conduct the review set out below and to otherwise assist the parties in effecting this process.
 - ii. The review, by the independent practitioner, of all items seized, for the purpose of identifying irrelevant and privileged material.
 - iii. That clones containing only relevant and non-privileged material located on the seized electronic items (the disclosable clones) be created and provided to the United States authorities; and
 - iv. That the first defendant meet the reasonable costs and expenses of the independent practitioner, including the cost of such technical assistance and/or resource as he/she might reasonably require.
- g. An order requiring that all items identified as containing no relevant material be returned forthwith to the plaintiffs.

- h. An order that complete clones of those seized items which are found to contain any relevant and non-privileged material be provided to the plaintiffs as soon as possible, and in any case, not later than the disclosable clone of that item is provided to the United States authorities.
- i. An order directing the first defendant to notify the relevant United States authority of the Court's decision in this matter, and request the voluntary return of the clones removed from New Zealand, along with any copies/clones or data taken therefrom.
- j. The ability for either party to seek further orders from the Court as required, including in relation to any dispute as to the relevance or privilege attaching to a certain item or items during the review by the independent practitioner.

[146] For the reasons given at paragraph [35] above, I am satisfied that declarations should issue in relation to the validity of the warrants and the transfer of the clones. I will hear counsel in relation to the form of those declarations if counsel are unable to agree on them.

[147] I am not at this point prepared to make the remaining orders sought. Given the extent of the challenges, and the nature of my findings, I require to hear further from counsel as to the appropriate remedy or remedies before making any order. This proceeding can be listed before me at 10 am on 4 July 2012 (prior to the hearing of the related judicial review proceedings) for the purposes of timetabling necessary steps for that purpose.

Winkelmann J

Solicitors: Simpson Grierson, Auckland Crown Law, Wellington

Counsel: P J Davison, Auckland GJ Foley, Auckland M J Ruffin, Auckland

EXHIBIT B



INSPECTOR-GENERAL OF INTELLIGENCE AND SECURITY

THE HON D.P. NEAZOR CNZM

27 September 2012

The Rt Hon John Key Prime Minister Parliament Building WELLINGTON

Dear Prime Minister

KIM DOTCOM AND OTHERS V ATTORNEY-GENERAL - RESIDENCY STATUS

 This report relates to your request on 17 September that I should enquire into action by the GCSB affecting Kim Dotcom and others including making an assessment of errors. The Bureau has reported to you that there appears to have been a breach of statutory restrictions applicable to the collection work of the GCSB.

Background:

2. Kim Dotcom is in dispute with United States authorities about the accumulation of sums of money, the gathering of which may have given rise to allegations of criminal activity in the United States which the authorities there wish to pursue. That pursuit may well involve an attempt by Court proceedings to extradite Kim Dotcom and others to the United States, involving questions of discovery of documents and arrest of persons, Kim Dotcom and others.

New Zealand Police involvement in the event:

3. A specialist group of New Zealand Police Officers has been involved in assisting the United States authorities and investigating a couple of related New Zealand matters. As part of the New Zealand Police assistance, communications passed between the Police group and GCSB. Those communications were related to a proposal to arrest Kim Dotcom and associated persons. It was believed by Police Officers that these persons

2

could present potential danger to officers and others involved if the attempted arrest was made. With that belief it was important for the Police to know what action Dotcom and associated people might plan to take and where; i.e. they sought intelligence about possible events. The documents show that information was collected about Dotcom and his associates by the Bureau (largely about their movements or possible movements at relevant times) and passed on to the Police. In my view, considered on its own, the passing on as such could have been lawful but the collection in the circumstances was not. The documents I have seen which record the events do not disclose any interest or inquiry by GCSB about the facts or events of Dotcom's disputed activity; just where he might be and who might be with him.

Involvement of the GCSB Mechanism:

4. Like other countries, New Zealand has Government agencies whose task is, covertly if necessary, to collect and report on information which is relevant to security. Information is obtained by various appropriate techniques which it is unnecessary to set out. The relevant New Zealand agencies are the New Zealand Security Intelligence Service and the Government Communications Security Bureau. Only the latter is involved in this event. The mandate of each agency is set out in an Act of Parliament which is designed to control the range of the agency's enquiry and how it works. Each agency's work is not at large; it is limited by its controlling Act.

GCSB Gathering and Retaining Information and Dealing with Crime:

- 5. For present purposes GCSB has the specific functions of gathering foreign intelligence, in accordance with the foreign intelligence requirements of the Government of New Zealand:
 - (i) by intercepting communications under the authority of the GCSB Act 2003;
 - (ii) by collecting information in any other lawful manner.
- 6. Another of the Bureau's functions is to provide advice and assistance to any public authority in New Zealand on any matter that is relevant to the functions of the public authority or other entity and to a purpose specified in the Act e.g. to pursue the GCSB's objective of the provision of foreign intelligence that the Government in New Zealand requires, to protect the safety of any person, and in support of the prevention or detection of serious crime. The Bureau has other specified functions, but these are what is presently relevant.

3

7. The Bureau is specifically empowered to retain any intercepted communication if its content relates to the Bureaus' objective or functions. It may for the purpose of preventing or detecting serious crime in New Zealand or in any other country, retain information that comes into its possession and may communicate that information to members of the New Zealand Police. Hence my view that passing information to the Police could be lawful.

Foreign Element:

- 8. This is the significant factor in the present case.
- 9. The Bureau is intended to collect foreign intelligence only. That theme runs through the whole Act. All of the provisions authorising collection of intelligence and communications are related to what is "foreign" "foreign intelligence" (s.7 (i) (a) and (b)), (s.8 (i) (a)) "foreign communications" (s.8) and prohibition against targeting domestic communications (ss. 13, 14, 16 and 19).
- 10. A descriptive process is used in the GCSB Act. Examples are-

"foreign communications means communications that contain, or may reasonably be expected to contain, foreign intelligence".

"foreign intelligence means information about the capabilities, intentions, or activities of a foreign organisation or a foreign person".

"foreign person means an individual who is neither a New Zealand Citizen nor a permanent resident...".

"permanent resident means a person who is, or who is deemed to be, the holder of a residence class visa under the Immigration Act 2009."

The first inquiry as to whether a person is to be regarded as "foreign" under this Act is related to citizenship or permanent residence. If the person concerned does not have one of those statuses, he or she is foreign for the purpose of the GCSB Act and his or her communications are not protected. If the person is a citizen of New Zealand or a permanent resident his or her communications are protected. People in the permanent residence category were originally described in the GCSB Act as the holder of a residence permit but are now described by a concept called a "residence class visa".

The Immigration material I have seen in respect of Dotcom shows that he was granted a residence visa offshore under the Immigration Act 1987, Investor Plus category, in November 2010. At that point in time he did not meet the definition of 'permanent residence' under the GCSB Act as it then was.

4

However, before he arrived in New Zealand the new Immigration Act 2009 came into force on 29 November 2010 and deemed him to hold a residence class visa from that point in time. He met the definition of 'permanent resident' for the purposes of the GCSB Act accordingly.

Although Dotcom's status is subject to monetary and residential conditions for a period of three years short of actually being deported Mr Dotcom retains his immigration residence status and remains a permanent resident for the purposes of the GCSB Act.

It was on my understanding not recognised that Dotcom as the holder of a resident visa under a particular category provided for by the Immigration Act was therefore a 'permanent resident' (and thus a protected person) under the GCSB Act.

Potential for confusion:

- 11. Dotcom is not on my understanding a New Zealand citizen he is Finnish or German. He is however one of a category of people who is treated in New Zealand as if he ought to have protection against collection of his information. This result has come about by reference to and application of the Immigration Act. That he (and others) has protection of their communications under the GCSB Act is simply an effect of what has happened under the Immigration Act, so long as the relevant words apply to him.
- 12. As this matter went along what was discovered in the case of Dotcom and associated people was that resident status had been obtained on their behalf under the Immigration Act 1987 and carried forward under the later 2009 Act. It was understood incorrectly by the GCSB that a further step in the immigration process would have to be taken before Dotcom and associates had protection against interception of communications
- 13. Leaving aside possible confusion arising from the effect of the permit to be in New Zealand Dotcom and party had, the application made by the Police to GCSB was a proper one: the request was made on the basis that the information sought was foreign intelligence contributing to the function of the New Zealand Police and supporting the prevention or detection of crime. The GCSB acting on it was proper.

5

- 14. Enquiry was made during the activity in an attempt to ensure that the Bureau acted within its legal mandate as to what it can collect. The illegality arose because of changes in the Immigration Act wording and some confusion about which category Dotcom was in thereafter.
- 15. Complete avoidance of a recurrence will only come about if the system is such that those requesting assistance from the Bureau about non citizens check with Immigration the immigration status of people who may become targets to be sure of what their immigration status in fact is (not may be) in terms of the GCSB Act definitions and tell the Bureau what they have ascertained. It is important to realise that what the GCSB may do is governed finally by the GCSB Act, not the Immigration Act. Because the law allows the covert collection of information about only some people in New Zealand, the events demonstrate that it is important to be sure at all times of the proposed target's legal status in the country.

Summary:

- In my view the only issue of illegality arises in this matter from confusion in this instance between the case of a person transferring funds and the general category of residents.
- The GCSB is controlled by its governing Act in what it may do. That Act makes it clear that the Bureau is intended to collect foreign intelligence only, but that includes the function of assisting the Police by gathering foreign intelligence for the purpose of preventing or detecting serious crime.
- A foreign person for the purpose of the GCSB Act is someone who is neither a New Zealand citizen nor (now) the holder of a residence class visa under the Immigration Act.
- People who hold a residence class visa under the Immigration Act have protection against the collection of information under the GCSB Act even if they are not classified as a citizen.
- In this case it was recognised that Dotcom was not a New Zealand citizen. He was classed as the holder of a residence class visa in a particular category but it was not apparent to the Police or GCSB that he thereby fell into a protected category. Because he should have been regarded as in such a category, collection was not allowed under the GCSB Act and in that way illegal.
- Collection had in fact stopped before it was recognised that he did fall within a protected category..

 The information sought to be collected did not relate to the details or merits of his dispute in the US. It was about where he was or might be expected to be in New Zealand at a particular time.

6

Recommendation to prevent recurrence:

- 16. Since occasions for the Police to seek assistance from GCSB in matters of safety or security will assuredly arise again under the GCSB Act as it stands, what is needed is assurance available to GCSB that the subject of the information sought is not protected by the terms of the GCSB Act, i.e. that the person concerned is not a New Zealand citizen, that he or she is not a permanent resident and is not the holder of a residence class visa under the Immigration Act. There will need to be alertness that:
 - (i) the wording of the provisions of the GCSB Act are controlling;
 - (ii) since the relevant wording of either Act may change it would be useful for the applicant for assistance to advise what factors as to status they rely on, and what words in the GCSB Act they rely on for their application.

Yours sincerely

D P Neazor

Inspector-General

EXHIBIT C

auinn emanuel trial lawyers | washington, dc

1299 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Suite 825, Washington, District of Columbia 20004-2400 | TEL: (202) 538-8000 FAX: (202) 538-8100

May 10, 2012

VIA E-MAIL

Jay V. Prabhu
Chief, Cybercrime Unit
Assistant United States Attorney
United States Attorney's Office, Eastern District of Virginia
Justin W. Williams United States Attorney's Building
2100 Jamieson Avenue
Alexandria, VA 22314

Re: United States v. Kim Dotcom, et al., Criminal Case No. 1:12-cr-3

Dear Jay:

We are writing to determine whether the United States is agreeable to engaging in discussions concerning a proposed deal with Megaupload Limited ("Megaupload") whereby the Government would agree to unfreeze Megaupload's assets to fund its defense (via an unopposed *Farmer* motion) in return for which Megaupload would waive the service of summons requirement of Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 4 and enter a not guilty plea. The amount of money made available to Megaupload is intertwined with whether Megaupload must, out of necessity, make procedural motions and the need to favorably resolve data preservation issues. If Megaupload and the Government are unable to come to an agreement concerning the release of funds for Megaupload's defense, we will have no choice but to seek relief.

In any event, there are numerous provisions of the Government's proposed server data preservation "agreement" that are draconian and ought to be modified via further negotiation.

quinn emanuel urquhart & sullivan, lip

LOS ANGELES | 865 South Figueroa Street, 10th Floor, Los Angeles, California 90017-2543 | Tel. (213) 443-3000 FAX (213) 443-3100 NEW YORK | 51 Madison Avenue, 22nd Floor, New York, New York | 10010-1601 | Tel. (212) 849-7000 FAX (212) 849-7100 SAN FRANCISCO | 50 California Street, 22nd Floor, San Francisco, California 94111-4788 | Tel. (415) 875-6600 FAX (415) 875-6700 SILICON VALLEY | 555 Twin Dolphin Drive, 5th Floor, Redwood Shores, California 94065-2139 | Tel. (650) 801-5000 FAX (650) 801-5100 CHICAGO | 500 W. Madison Street, Suite 2450, Chicago, Illinois 60661-2510 | Tel. (312) 705-7400 FAX (312) 705-7401 LONDON | 16 Old Bailey, London EC4M 7EG, United Kingdom | Tel. +44 20 7653 2000 FAX +44 20 7653 2100 TOKYO | NBF Hibiya Building, 25F, 1-1-7, Uchisaiwai-cho, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-0011, Japan | Tel. +81 3 5510 1711 FAX +81 3 5510 1712 MANNHEIM | Mollstraße 42, 68165 Mannheim, Germany | Tel. +49 621 43298 6000 FAX +49 621 43298 6100 MOSCOW | Voentorg Building, 3rd Floor, 10 Vozdvizhenka Street, Moscow 125009, Russia | Tel. +7 495 797 3666 FAX -7 495 797 3667 HAMBURG | An der Alster 3, 20099 Hamburg, Germany | Tel. +49 40 89728 7000 FAX +49 40 89728 7100

For example, Megaupload does not agree to:

- · a Brady waiver;
- · fully fund server data preservation with its own assets;
- permit server data preservation to end before all related case(s) and potential appeal(s) are terminated;
- have money that should be allocated to Megaupload's legal, technical, and e-discovery fees allocated instead to harnessing the data and analyzing phase II consumer access;
- · have the servers stored stacked on the floor below the standard of care;
- have the servers stored in a manner in which they are not reasonably accessible to the Defendants; or
- be required to seek leave of the Court to access the servers.

We would appreciate the opportunity to confer with you about these and other issues. If you are amenable to such discussions, we propose scheduling a conference call at 11:00 am on Monday, May 14.

Very truly yours,

William A. Burck

Quinn, Emanuel, Urquhart & Sullivan LLP

Ira P Rothken

The Rothken Law Firm

cc: Marc J. Zwillinger, counsel for Carpathia Hosting, Inc.

Julie P. Samuels, counsel for Kyle Goodwin

Paul M. Smith, counsel for the Motion Picture Association of America

W. Clifton Holmes, counsel for Valcom and Microhits